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Sova Gapital Limited

Strategic Report
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

lntroduction

The directors present their strategic report together with the audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December2018.

During the year 2018, Sova Capital Limited (hereinafter "the firm" or "the Company") focused on maintaining its

financial stability and strong liquidity position, as well as striving to capitalise further upon synergies across the
ROSSIUM Group, and enhancing its corporate governance capabilities, risk and control framework, and
ensuring that it remains well-placed to achieve its strategic objectives going forward.

Business review, financial performance, and objectives and strategy

ln line with its strategy, the firm has continued to deliver high-quality services and grow business lines with a
well-diversified client base and strong capital and liquidity position. lt has strengthened its operational capabilities
anci increased operationai efficiency, as weii as making substantial progress on improving the firm's asset and
regulatory capital position.

The firm was awarded the "Best Derivatives Market Broker (Non-Resident)" by the St. Petersburg lnternational
Commodity and Raw Materials Exchange (SPIMEX). This represented a great achievement for the firm as
SPIMEX initiatives align closely to the firm's own mission, namely to develop local Russian capital market
infrastructure, bringing best practices from European markets and promoting a more transparent and convenient
market place for international participants.

The firm has continued to pursue its strategy from last year and to broaden its market approach. The Capital
Markets department continued its significant expansion into emerging markets, with its main focus remaining on

CIS countries, central and eastern Europe and the Middle East. Prime Services continued to work with European
funds, offering them a full range of solutions, and the Capital Markets Origination (CMO) department enhanced
and diversified its product offering to both existing and new customers.

The Repurchase Agreement & Treasury department focused on expanding its funding lines with global banks
and successfully grew the firm's counterparty and client base, resulting in a substantial increase in total assets.

The Structured Desk, part of Capital Markets, successfully initiated a cross-firm project issuing structured
products from the firm's own balance sheet. We anticipate that this initiative will allow the firm to draw further
upon the specialist expertise within its Trading and Structured team, enabling it to obtain long-term financing for
the Repurchase agreement and Treasury department, ultimately resulting in improvements to the firm's
cred itworthiness and profitability.

We believe that the firm's efforts in providing simple, reliable and market relevant solutions to clients gives it a
competitive advantage over its peers. At the end of 2018, we deployed our new multi-platform client-facing portal
(the Sova Smart Client Cabinet), which has gained significant client praise since its launch. ln the coming year
we are committed to investing further into the development of the Sova Smart Client Cabinet, increasing its
functionality to clients and making it a convenient and seamless tool for our clients.

The firm believes that its personalised approach to client relationship management is a key factor in its client
offering; notwithstanding this, it considers the trend towards the digitisation of client interactions as an important
disruptor within the broader financial services arena. Accordingly, the firm is an active promoter in harnessing the
benefits of technology and utilising this in both its client offerings and back-office functions, where this would
result in more seamless client interaclions and efficient back-office activities.

ln parallelwith developments in the firm's business operations, the firm's corporate governance capabilities were
also enhanced during 2018, following the appointment of three new independent Non-Executive Directors. They
have taken permanent places at the Board, as well as adopting the roles of Chair of the Board Audit Committee
and Chair of the Board Risk and Compliance Committee.



Sova Capital Limited

Strategic Report (conti nued)
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

Alongside these senior board appointments, the directors and senior management continue to promote a
positive risk and compliance culture within the firm and convey a clear and unified tone from the top. This
approach has successfully assisted in fostering high levels of loyalty to the firm values, as well as encouraging
good conduct and increased levels of risk-awareness from colleagues across all three line of defence, and
across all levels of seniority within the business.

Key performance summary

The firm employs a number of key financial performance indicators (KPls) in measuring its financial performance
and these are considered collectively in assessing the firm's overall financial position and performance. Net profit
after tax, the firm's measure of Return on Equity (ROE), and the Cost to lncome Ratio (CTl) are amongst some
of the more common measures utilised.

Total assets have increased by 77o/o compared to 2017, primarily due to impressive results in our sale and
repurchase agreement activity, which resulted in increasing the firm's reverse repurchase balances from $210
million to $1,350 million. This increase predominantly resulted from the firm regaining relationships with trading
clients that had been lost during the disruption that had occurred from the change of control process that
commenced in H2 2017 and was finally completed by the end of H2 2018.

Within the same period net profit after tax increased by 59.48o/o to $34 million. This was predominantly driven by
additional revenues generated from increased trading activity amongst a wider range of financial instruments,
coupled with an improvement in operational efficiency, including but not limited to, enhancements in the firm's
cost management processes.

The firm's measure of ROE (calculated by dividing cumulative net profit after tax by total shareholder funds) is
used by management as a strategic measure to assess the efficiency of shareholder funds invested, and was
calculated as 9.86% at the year-end. This is on track to achieve the targeted level of 15o/o by 2020 as forecast
within the firm's 3-year strategy.

CTI measures the cost of running the firm's business in relation to the firm's operating income and is calculated
by dividing the firm's operating expenses by its operating income. CTI has substantially improved since 2017,
reducing from 71% (2017) lo 54% (2018), driven primarily by a reduction in operating expenses achieved within
2018.

Principal risks and uncertainties and our approach to risk management

Risk is an integral part of the firm's business. The main financial risks faced by the firm are counterparty risk
(including pre settlement, settlement and concentration risk), market risk (sensitivities to the various market risk
factors, including foreign exchange risk), liquidity risk, and operational risk.

Risk Management's focus is to identify and assess all relevant and material risks and to set appropriate
tolerances consistent with the risk appetite of the firm. Risk Management actively manages the firm's risks
through real{ime monitoring and daily reporting on credit, market, liquidity and operational risk. The firm's risk
department works closely with the trading departments to ensure relevant limits are adhered to and any
breaches are monitored and escalated.

The firm's risk management framework consists of the Board of Directors, the Board Risk and Compliance
Committee (BRCC), the Risk Management and Compliance Committee (RMCC), Chief Risk Officer and the Risk
Management Department. The framework focuses on the various risks the firm is, or could be, exposed to. The
Chief Risk Officer is a member of the RMCC and consistently attends BRCC meetings.
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Sova Capital Limited

Strategic Report (continued)
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

The Board is responsible for formulation of the firm's strategy and for determining its risk appetite policy. Senior
management is responsible for the implementation of the Board strategy in line with the approved risk appetite.
The directors meet on a regular basis to discuss current financial positions versus projections for profitability and
capital management, business planning and risk management. The directors oversee the firm's risks though a
framework of policies and procedures, having regard to the relevant laws, standards, principles and rules with
the aim of operating a defined and transparent risk management framework. Policies and procedures are
reviewed and updated on at least an annual basis, or more frequently as required.

This section of the Strategic Report represents the director's view on the key principal risks the firm faces in the
pursuit of its business activities. A fuller assessment of these risks is set out in Note 28 (Risk Management) of
the fi nancial statements.

Counterparty Risk
Tha firm rlafinac nnr rnlarnarhr riclz ao a anmhinalinn nf nra-aafflamp4f anr{ spltlcmnnt risl4;r rrv rrrrrr vgrrrl9o vvvrrrvr}/qrrt rrJl\ qs s vvrrtvrrrqlrvrr vr Prv vvrrrvrrrv

Pre settlement risk is defined as the risk that one party to a contract will fail to meet the terms of that
contract and will default prior to a contract's settlement date, thereby prematurely ending the contract. This
type of risk may lead to a change in replacement costs and a substantial potential future exposure
amount.

a

a Settlement risk is the risk that one party to a contract will fail to deliver in accordance with the terms of a
contract to another party at the time of settlement. Settlement risk can be the risk associated with a default
at the time of settlement and/or any timing differences in settlement between the two parties. This risk
may result in a loss equal to the cost of replacement, as per the original terms of the transaction, or
potentially any sum upto the full principal amount.

As a significant proportion of the firm's transactions are conducted on the basis of "delivery versus payment", this
minimises the risk of exposure to any trading positions. This does not however eliminate risk entirely in the
combination of circumstances in which the counterparty fails and the value of stock awaiting settlement against
payment has changed adversely. To guard against this, the firm sets limits for various counterparties and
monitors these limits constantly. The limits are also set for the banks and brokers to set the maximum tolerances
to mitigate the losses to insolvency.

The firm provides services of trading in exchange traded derivatives, margin trading, securities financing,
equities lending and borrowing. Exposure values to clients through the provision of these services are
determined using mark to market methods. ln all cases where such transactions place the client or the firm at
risk, the firm will hold adequate collateral and provisions for netting arrangements. This normally takes the form
of a lien over the customer's assets, giving a claim on these assets for both existing and future liabilities.

Concentration risk
Credit risk concentrations include

a significant exposure to an individual counterparty or group of counterparties;
credit exposures to counterparties in the same economic sector or geographic region;
credit exposures to counterparties whose financial performance is dependent on the same activity or
commodity;and
indirect credit exposures arising from the firm's activities (e.9. exposure to a single collateral type or to
credit protection provided by a single counterparty).

Trigger events that can exercise concentration risk are as follows

the firm use of a single settlement agent;
amounts due from connected companies; and
default of a large transaction with a counterparty

a

a

a

a

a

a
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Strategic Report (continued)
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that arises from fluctuations in values of, or income from, assets or in interest or exchange
rates. The firm undertakes trading activities in various financial instruments. lt has exposures in equity, equity
derivatives, fixed income instruments, currencies and commodities. The fluctuations in asset prices and values
are limited through the implementation of a number of market risk limits, such as position limits, tolerance limits
set for value fluctuations, as well as limits relating to sensitivities to the risk factors.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the firm will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations from its financial liabilities.
The firm's risk appetite is set to ensure that, at all times within the set time horizon, it will always have sufficient
liquidity to meet its financial liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to its reputation. The firm mainly operates within very short tenors and
maintains a buffer portfolio of cash and high quality liquid assets to ensure that sufficient liquidity is maintained.
The firm's liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis and management information is provided daily to senior
management. The firm deems that it has sufficient liquidity for its current and near future activities.

Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when the firm enters into transactions denominated in a currency other than its
functional currency.

The firm has currency exposures and maintains positions in a variety of currencies to support its trading
activities, with its principal exposure being in US Dollars. The firm has a modest risk appetite in proprietary
dealing in FX, however its main focus is to derive gains on arbitrage opportunities in market neutral strategies.
The firm's policy requires that any significant FX exposure must be hedged using available currency instruments,
including derivative contracts.

Operationalrisk
The firm defines operational risk as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, human
behaviour and systems or from external events. The firm manages this risk through the existence and
application of policies, procedures and internal controls, including KRI's and KPI's, to ensure compliance with all
relevant laws and regulations, including defined risk tolerances. The quality and timelines of risk mitigation
strategies employed is monitored by the Operational Risk Management unit, with oversight from the RMCC.

Regulatory capital and liquidity requirements
The firm constantly monitors the adequacy of its financial resources. Management takes a rather conservative
approach within the processes adopted for the internal assessment of capital and liquidity resource requirements
given the nature and risks of markets in which the firm operates. The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Risk Officer,
Chief Operating Officer and other senior management receive daily reports which enable the firm to monitor its
business operations and to ensure that at alltimes the firm has sufficient capital to meet its own and FCA capital
requirements and stays within its employed strategy and risk appetite.

FinancialCrime & Regulatory Risk
Financial Crime risk arises when the firm is used as a vehicle for a broad range of unlawful activity, including
bribery and corrupt practices and terrorist financing, but principally the money laundering of the proceeds of
crime ('AML' risk). Given its business model and client base, with the associated perceived higher level of risk
deriving from those clients and the jurisdictions in which they are largely domiciled, senior management takes
this risk very seriously and has sought to mitigate it in various ways. This primarily includes the up-skilling of its
compliance team to reflect its focus in this area, the development of risk-sensitive policies and procedures, and
the use of high quality external advisors to review these and associated practices.

4
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Strateg ic Report (continued)
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

The firm's Financial Crime team carries out a rigorous risk-assessments of all potential clients, and
counterparties, to ensure that proper due diligence and ongoing monitoring is undertaken, routinely referring
issues for escalation or consideration to the firm's RMCC. All clients who are, or have ultimate beneficial owners
("UBOs") who are, Politically Exposed Persons ("PEPs") are subject to enhanced onboarding and ongoing due
diligence compatible with this perceived increased risk. All PEPS are subject to specific Compliance scrutiny and
referral to the RMCC. Furthermore, the risk of breaching sanctions restrictions, including Russian sectoral
sanctions, is also treated with due rigour using technical solutions, both at the client onboarding stage and at a
transaction levelwhere all counterparties are screened on a pre-trade basis.

Senior Management remains acutely aware that Financial Crime risk is dynamic, and that the firm's risk
exposures and risk appetite needs to be assessed constantly in line with its strategic development.

This risk appetite and the risk exposures the firm is subject to applies equally to broader compliance and
-^^..1^+^-. -i^1. ^-i^i^^ ^-i^^i^^11.,lL-^,.^L +h^ .{^^-^^ ^^-.l ^^^^ ^l -^^' 'l^r^^, ^1.^^^^ ^^^',..i^^ i^ +1..^ 

-^rl-^+.reEuiaioni risK, ai'isrng princrpailji inrougn ine oegree anq pace oT regurarory cnarige occuri"ifig in ine firarKers in
which the firm operates - particularly London. Most are EU originating regulations. Market Abuse (MAR), MiFID
ll, General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), Senior Managers & Certification Regime (SMCR), Central
Securities Depositories Regulation (CSDR) and Securities Financing Transactions Regulation (SFTR) are just
some of the regulatory initiatives the firm is currently implementing or has recently implemented. 'Upstream Risk'
is therefore something the Compliance function places great prominence on in order to ensure that the firm
continues to remain in a good position to realise its strategic plans.

Where additional support becomes necessary, this is readily sought from a panel of leading and trusted legal
and regulatory advisors, as well as the firm's own lnternal Audit function, and each of the Compliance team has
personal objectives relating to the analysis and sharing of upstream risk and new regulatory shifts and threats
relevant to the firm.

Despite 2018 being a challenging year for the firm, from a regulatory and compliance perspective, the firm
continued to manage its regulatory relationship in an open, transparent and proactive manner. The firm has
invested significantly to enhance the capability of its Compliance function and to ensure that the firm continues to
promote a strong compliance and regulatory culture, achieving its objectives within a robust, ethical and
compliant framework.

Buslness rsk
Considering the firm's current franchise and business model, Russia remains the firm's key strategic business
region. Given this, and despite the firm's efforts and progress in diversifying its activities (including exploration of
other emerging market geographies), the firm's ability to deliver upon its business and financial targets still
remains susceptible to shocks impacting the Russian economy.

The main risks to the firm's business model include any sharp deterioration in the Russian economy and any
significant expansion of sanctions imposed by the international community. At a more local level, decreases in

commodity prices, deterioration in household incomes, and further market consolidation and increased pressure
from state-owned financial services entities, could all impact detrimentally upon the firm's revenues.

It is worth noting that the regulatory regimes in place within the firm's country of incorporation (UK) and its key
strategic market (Russia) are not harmonised, which could potentially expose the firm to increased levels of
regulatory scrutiny both in Russia, and in the EU or UK (after leaving EU). ln mitigating such risks, the firm has
modelled a number of Brexit-related scenarios that have been factored into its strategic plans. lt is also
considering potential European acquisitions as a mitigating strategy, as has already been alluded to above.
Management also utilises a capital-planning buffer, as part of its mitigation toolkit, and this will be substituted by
a combined capital buffer in 2019.
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Strateg ic Report (continued)
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

Having set out some of the potential risks impacting the Russian economy, it is pleasing to note that following a
period of subdued economic factors (such as depreciation of the Russian ruble, falls in GDP, and lower
consumer confidence), the economy has remained remarkably resilient and open for business. Russian market
sentiment has been positive, with a good flow of debt and equity placements coming to market from both the
public and private sector, with some issues recording over-subscription of 1.5-2 times. Againstthis backdrop,
the firm remains cautiously optimistic and continues to monitor macro, market and regulatory developments on
an ongoing basis.

Brexit - The United Kingdom leaving the European Union

As with the market as a whole, Brexit continues to remain a significant source of uncertainty for the firm. We
believe that these uncertainties (and their associated risks) may linger well beyond the actual date of Brexit, as
the UK and EU will continue to iron out the post-Brexit regulatory and business frameworks.

The impact of Brexit is being closely monitored by the Firm: the client flows and trading strategies are being
continuously assessed by the management. The firm performed a comprehensive suite of Brexit stress testing,
applying various scenarios, and concluded that given the firm's current client base and activities, Brexit would not
significantly impact the firm's business model in the foreseeable future.

It is also the firm's belief that Brexit may continue to have negative effects on UK asset prices, potentially
creating investment opportunities for the firm. Notwithstanding the firm's current position on Brexit, it will continue
to monitor and assess Brexit-related risks, particularly those brought about by the market uncertainty. Against
this backdrop the firm is keeping its options open, and will respond appropriately to ensure that it is able to
continue operating under its current franchise and business model. The acquisition of a European banking
license to capture new business opportunities in Continental Europe (as stated below), and to diversify the firm's
risks further, is an option that the firm is closely considering.

Non-financial performance indicators

ln addition to financial performance indicators, the firm monitors non-financial indicators in measuring its
performance. These include indicators focused upon factors such as brand awareness, compliance and conduct
measures, and regulatory and legal indicators.

Compliance and regulatory risks represent key priorities for the firm, and our aim is to adhere to 'best in class'
business practices and maintenance of a strong regulatory and compliance framework.

The firm continues to invest significantly to improve its brand recognition, and aims to increase its 'brand
mentions' in well-recognised media by 50%, from the time the firm was acquired by its parent ROSSIUM
Concern.

6
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Strategic Report (continued)
forthe Year Ended 3l Dccamber 20{8

Future developments

The firm's management is fully committed to further developing and maintaining the multidimensional
diversification of the business model in terms of products, clients, client segments, markets and new
geographies.

The firm's existing ownership structure will b€ subJect to a reorganisation during 2019, the primary objective of
wtrich is to further increase transparency with respec't to the UBOs of thE firm. wtrilEt Et the same time ring
fencing thc opcrations of the Sova Group, from any Russia related risks connected wilh other holdings wilhin lhe
UBOs wlder investment portfolio.

The firm plans to supplement tte existing suitc of products with a set of ncw and innovative products during 2019,
this will enable the firm to continue to meet the needs of its clients by providing solutions that are more closely
lailnranl la lhair ararsina anr{ caahlallaalar{ riclr anaalila ln arrrcrri} nf l}ria aaal thr firm io alca avnlnrinn n{horu.vrrr.rv el,lrvrr.v! rrr l,urssrr v' rrilr ltvsrr v^trrv.nrv vqrv,
emerging markets opportunities, whcre these ara in relatively close proximi$ to the risk profile of ihe firm's
current pdmary Russian markEt, as this will assist in broadening lhe firm's product range to clients.

Alongsile lhls, the firm is also focusing upon its Prime Services offering, and how this could be exlended to
serve market counterparties that are, in management's opinion, being cunently under-served in existing
developed markets.

ln line wtth its long-term strategic plan, the firm is considering the acquisition of the C1prus AIFM, Sova Asset
Management (CY) Ltd ('SAM"). SAM is an alternative investment fund manager regulated by the Cyprus
Securities and Exchange Commission (.CySec'). This acquisilion will cnable the ftrm to achieve its strategic
objective of oealing a broader investment service groupr which would also allo$/ il to expand its presence in the
EU and provide further opporlunities post-Brexit. Management strongly believas that post-acquisition synergies
will assist in boosting the expansion of the firm's clienl base and will result in further diversification of revenue
streams within the Sova Capltal Group.

As stated above, the firm is considering opportunities for further European acqulsitlons, for example, a niche
credit institution which is the subject of European banking regulatory supeMsion. Such an acquisition would
serve to broaden the firm's product offering in accordance with its sbategic vision - becoming a 'on€-stop'
financial scrvices provider, by alloving it to provide a wide-range of financial services. Given the example above,
such an acquisition would result in conversion of any target inslitution into a universal financial institution, thcreby
enabling an expanslon of the combined entities producd ofiering.

Concluslon

The firm acknowledges lhat 2019 will be a challenging year, but given our successful business model and the
significant investments made during 2018, we remain positive about our future prospects. The professionalism,
commitment and dedication of our senior management team and colleagues (in both London and our Moscow
Branch), and ongoing support from our clients and other stakeholders, leads us to believe that we are welh
placed to achieve our ambitious goals and to continue to deliver sustainable retums for our shareholders in lhe
year ahead.

This report was the board and signed on its behalf.

Snell
Director

7
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Sova Capital Limited

Directors' Report
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

On 17 January 2018, the Company changed its name from Otkritie Capital lnternational Limited to Sova Capital
Limited.

Di rectors' responsibil ities

The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, the directors' report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and lnternational
Financial Reporting Standards (lFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors
must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

ln preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

a

a

a

a

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Principal activity

Principal activity of the Company is acting as a financial services provider across fixed income ("F1"), equity,
equity and commodities derivatives, exchange traded derivatives ("ETD"), financing and prime services including
custody, clearing and settlement, electronic access and execution services. The Company's three principal
activities are proprietary trading, broking, financing.

A review of the business and assessment of financial risk management objectives and policies including
exposure to credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk are included in the strategic report along
with disclosure of anticipated future developments in the business.

I
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Directors' Report (conti nued)
forthe Year Ended 31 December2018

Post balance sheet events

The acquisition of Sova Asset Manaqement (CY) Ltd

On 28 January 2019, the Board of Directors, subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions, approved the
acquisition of 100% of the shares and voting rights of Sova Asset Management (CY) Ltd ('SAM"), the Cyprus
alternative investment fund manager, which is regulated by the Cyprus Securities and Exchange Commission
('cysEc").

On 6 February 2019, the conditional agreement for the sale and purchase of SAM has been executed.

As a part of the transaction the Company will also acquire the management (non-redeemable voting) shares of
the two investment funds which are currently managed by SAM, which are Sova Fund Variable Capital
lnvestment Company (CY) Ltd and Sova Disciplined Equity Fund SPC. The conditional agreements for the sale
and purchase of the management shares of the funds have been executed on 14 February 2A19 whereby SAM
directly (and the firm indirectly) purchased the management shares of the funds.

The acquisition of SAM is subject to change of control approval by CySEC, therefore the sale and purchase

agreement in respect of SAM is subject to fulfilling these specific conditions. On 't5 February 2019 an application
for change of control was submitted to CySEC.

Obtaininq a bankinq licence in Europe

The Company is assessing a potential acquisition of a European banking institution. Such acquisition will be a
part of the Company's strategic plan, will expand the Company's product offering and will allow the Company to
provide a wide-range of financial services.

Russian Leqal Case

The Company has been named in a Russian court case, the details of which are set out in Note 30 to the
financial statements.

For the reasons set out in Note 30, the Directors consider the potential for any eventual liability falling upon the
Company to be extremely remote.

I



$ova Gapital Limited

Dlreeton'Rcport
for tha Year Ended 3'l

(contlnued)
Dccember 2018

Resulta and dlvldends

The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to $34,191,694 QA17 - $21,440,093).

The directors paid intedm divklends of NIL (2017 - $55,000,000). The directors do not recommend the payment
of a linal ordinary dividend (2017 - NIL),

Oirectorr

The directors who served during the !€ar were:

Nikolay Katozhnov (non.executive director) (appointed 9 Fcbruary 2018)
Horard Pctcr Snell (non+xecutive dircctor)
Sergey Sergeevich S ukhanov (executive d irector)
Martin Paul Graham (independent non+xocutivc diroctor) (rcsigned 30 April 2018)
Richard Percgrine Ogdon (independcnt non-executive director) (resigned 30 April 2018)
Dmitry Romaev (non-executive dhector) (resigned 6 February 2018)
Konstantin Tserazov (non-executive dhector) (resigned 6 February 2018)
Oleg Borunov (non-executlve director) (appointed 21 September 2018)
Kerim Richard Derhalli (non+xecutive director) (appointed 27 November 2018)
Michael David Newton (non-executive director) (appointed 27 November 2018)

Thlrd party lndemnlty

Qualifuing third party lndemnity povisions for the benefit of the directors wcre in forcc during the year under
review and remain in force at the date of approval of the directors' reporl and financial statements.

Dlsclosure of lnlormatlon to audltor

Each of thc persons who are dircctors at the time when this directors'report is approved has confirmed that:

so far as the director is aware, lhere is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is
unaware;and

the directot has taken all the steps that ought to have been laken as a director in order to be aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish thal the Compant's auditor is aware of that information.

Auditor

The auditor, BDO LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the Companies Act
2006.

This report was approved board and signed on its behalf.

Snell
Director

a

Date: z+/q{r1
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Sova Capital Limited

Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of Sova Capital Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Sova Capital Limited ("the Company'') for the year ended 31

December 2018 which comprise lncome statement, Statement of comprehensive income, Statement of financial
position, Statement of changes in equity and Statement of cash flows, and the notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in their preparation is applicable law and lnternational Financial Reporting Standards (lFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union.

ln our opinion, the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the state of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its profit for
the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with lnternational Standards on Auditing (UK) (lSAs (UK))and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Gonclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the lSAs (UK) require us to
report to you where:

the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
not appropriate; or
the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are

authorised for issue.

a

a
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Sova Capital Limited

lndependent Auditor's Report to the Members of Sova Capital Limited (continued)

a

a

Other information

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Strategic report and Directors report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

ln connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. lf we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. lf, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

ln our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

the information given in the Strategic report and Directors' report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the Strategic report and Directors' report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

ln the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic report and Director's report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion;

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

a

a

a

a
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Sova Capital Limited

lndependent Auditor's Report to the Members of Sova Capital Limited (continued)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with lSAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the Financial
Reporting Council's website at: https://www.frc.org.uUauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our
auditor's report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

buo --(
Neil Fung-On (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
London
United Kingdom

Date: Zf lcr I rq

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127)
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Sova Capital Limited
Registered number: 04621 383

Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2018

31 December
2018

$

As restated
31 December

2017
$

As restated
1 January

2017
$Note

Non-current assets

lntangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

lnvestments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 14

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
pledged under repurchase agreement 10

Amounts due from credit institutions and other customers 12

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income 9

Other assets 13

lnvestment securities available-for-sale 11

Deferred tax asset 26

Totalassets

1,501,786

2,195,625

1,523,674 1,276,411 3,697,411

6

7

408,033

1,115,641

539,200

737,211

410,106,292

349,866,216

377,676,200

1,354,235,393

35,236,100

93,697,464

228,447,133

718,181,057

184,735,921

218,794,763

344,092,337

474,453,483

425,204,212

1,224,443,145

124,268,514

5,331,500

768,431

59,307,533

5,400,000

817,9621,189,794

2,622,007,459 1,480,527,319 2,533,7 19,672

2,623,531,133 1 ,491 ,903,730 2,537 ,416,083

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Amounts due to credit institutions and other customers

lncome tax payable

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Capitaland reserves

Share capital

Share premium

Financial assets through other comprehensive income
reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve

Avai lable-for-sale reserve

Retained earnings

Total equity

2,236,840,028 1,129,294,676 2,151,279,622

15

16

17

165,238,211

{,525,416,966

509,772

545,675,079

174,098,116

349,257,484

2,319,996

603,620,080

220,443,042

1,533,724,527

3,542,064

393,568,989

18

29

346,031,694

4,500,566

199,624

4,663,992

346,031,694

4,500,566

346,031,694

4,500,566

29

29

29

29

4,663,992

647,405

(3,334,603)

4,663,992

715,905

30,225,30431,295,229

386,691,105 352,509,054 386,137,461

2,623,531,133 1,481,903,730 2,537,416,093Total equity and liabilities
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Sova Capital Limited

lncome Statement
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2018
$

As restated
2017

$Note
lnterest income

lnterest income on amounts due from credit institutions and other
customers

lnterest income on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Other interest income

lnterest expense

lnterest expense on amounts due to credit institutions and other
customers

Other interest expense

Credit loss allowance

Net interest income

Net commissions income 19

Net gains/(losses) from financial intruments at fair value through profit and
loss 20

Net gains/(losses) from financial instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Net losses from foreign currencies 20

Net gains from derivative instruments 20

Other income

Non-interest income

Personnel and other operating expenses

Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Loss on disposal of subsidiary undertakings

Non-interest expense

Profit before tax

lncome tax expense

Profit for the year

The notes on pages 22 to 1OO form part of these financial statements.

30,101,390

16,854,569

788,715

43,531,337

17,648,190

1,048,354

47,7M,674 62,227,991

(15,150,889) (24,353,843)

(595,193) (462,748)

(15,746,082) (24,816,591)

396,511

32,395,103 37,411,290

632,95{ 7,100,559

(8,837,902) (16,261,930)

(362,092)

(12,247,6541

69,503,695

8,229,262

(8,777,357)

71,080,619

3,189,739

56,918,250 56,331,629

(47,560,126) (63,230,900)

(165,047) (134,800)

(819,925) (1,142,094)

- (1,954,297)

(48,545,098) (66,461,991)

40,768,255

(6,576,561)

27,280,929

(5,840,835)

16

25

34,191,694 21,440,093



Sova Gapital Limited

Statement of Comprehensive lncome
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2018
$

2017
$

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Items that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Unrealised gain from debt financial instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Changes in allowance for expected credit loss

Realised gains on disposal of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, reclassified to profit or loss

Unrealised gains from available-for-sale securities

Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes on pages 22to 100 form part of these financial statements.

34,191,694 21,440,093

101,186

(21

362,092

(68,500)

463,276 (68,500)

34,654,970 21,371,593
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Sova Capital Limited

Statement of Cash Flows
forthe Year Ended 31 December 2018

Gash flows from operating activities

Profit for the financial year

Adjustments for:

Amortisation of intangibles

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Credit loss allowance and other provisions

Taxation

Movement in deferred taxation

Decrease/(increase) in financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from credit institutions and other
customers

Decrease/(lncrease) in other assets

(Decrease)/increase in financial liabilities at fair value through profit and
loss

(Decrease)/increase in amounts owed to credit institutions and other
customers

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Corporation tax paid

Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of intangible assets

Purchase of tangible fixed assets

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Proceeds from sale and redemption of financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Net cash outflow from subsidiary liquidation

Net cash used in investing activities

2018
$

165,047

819,925

2,889,864

6,576,561

(96,865)

144,964,099

(1,136,060,841)

30,541,574

1,175,629,465

(60,445,243)

34,191,694 21 ,440,093

2017
$

134,900

1,142,094

5,840,835

49,531

(3,259,283)

1,005,648,382

(64,419,847)

(1,184,467,043)

210,051,091

1,954,297

(7,063,903)

(8,990,841) (46,344,926)

(8,710,285)

181,473,143 (59,293,979)

(33,880)

(1,199,355)

(674,000)

(377,519)

(34,920,690)

34,800,391

(2ee,806)

(1,352,534) (1,351,325)

20



Sova Capital Limited

Statement of Cash Flows (continued)
forthe Year Ended 31 December 2018

2018
$

2017
$

(55,000,000)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Effect of exchange rates changes on cash and cash equivalents

Effect of expected credit loss on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year

Gash and cash equivalents at the end of year comprise

Cash at bank and in hand

(55,000,000)

180,120,609

228,447,133

1,541,665

(3,115)

(1 15,645,204)

344,092,337

410,106,292 228,447,133

410,106,292 228,447,133
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

1. General information

Sova Capital Limited is a private limited company incorporated and domiciled in the UK with it's
Registered Office at 12th Floor,88 Wood Street, London, EC2V 7RS. The Company is principally
engaged in financial services activities.

2. Accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

The Company only financial statements of Sova Capital Limited have been prepared in accordance
with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards ("lFRS') as adopted by the European Union.

The financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is also the Company's functional
currency.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on a historical cost basis,
except for the following items which are fair valued:

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Trading and non-trading securities at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL)
Derivative fi nancial instruments
Obligations to deliver securities

The financial statements provide comparative information of the previous period.

The financial statements have been prepared on a standalone basis as the Company has taken the
exemption provided under IFRS 10 not to prepare consolidated accounts on the basis that its ultimate
parent company prepares consolidated IFRS financial statements that are publicly available in which
the Company is consolidated. The Company's immediate parent is Despacio Associates Limited, a
company registered in Cyprus. The Company's ultimate parent company is LLC Concern Rossium, a
company registered in Russia. Copies of the consolidated financial statements for LLC Concern
Rossium are available at www.rossium.ru.

The financial statements provide comparative information for the previous period. ln addition, the
Company presents an additional statement of financial position at the beginning of the earliest period
when there is a retrospective restatement, transitional adjustment or a reclassification of items in the
financial statements.

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. Apart from the accounting policy changes resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15
effective from 1 January 2018, these policies have been consistently applied to all the periods
presented, unless otherwise stated. Refer to Note 8.

a

a

a

a
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
forthe Year Ended 31 December2018

2. Accountingpolicies(continued)

2.3 Fair value measurement

a

a

The Company measures financial instruments, such as trading and non-trading securities, derivatives
and non-financial assets, at fair value at each reporting date,

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transactions to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either:

ln the principal market for the asset or liability; or
ln the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Company. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A
fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data is available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable; and
Level 3 - valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

a

23



Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2. Accountingpolicies(continued)

2.4 Financial assets

a

Measurement of financial instruments at initial recognition

When financial instruments are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, adjusted, in the
case of instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, for directly attributable fees and cost.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
transaction price. lf the Company determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the
transaction price, then:

lf the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or
liability (i.e., a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from
observable markets, the Company recognises the difference between the fair value at initial
recognition and the transaction price as a gain or loss; and
ln all other cases, the initial measurement of the financial instrument is adjusted to defer the
difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. After initial
recognition, the Company recognises the deferred difference as a gain or loss only when the
inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

Date of recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are carried in the Company's statement of financial position when the
Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Company recognises
regular purchases and disposals of financial assets and liabilities by the trade date.

Following the initial recognition, an expected credit loss (ECL) allowance is recognised for financial
assets measured at amortised cost (AC) and investments in debt instruments measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), resulting in an accounting loss being recognised
immediately after the asset is initially recognised.

Classification and subsequent measurement - measurement categories

The Company classifies financial assets in the following measurement categories: FVTPL, FVOCI
and AC. The classification and subsequent measurement of debt financial assets depends on:

1) the Company's business model for managing the asset; and
2) the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Classification and subsequent measurement - busrness model

The business model reflects how the Company manages the assets in order to generate cash flows -
whether the Company's objective is:
i) solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets ("hold to collect contractual cash flows");
or
ii) to collect both the contractual cash flows and the cash flows arising from the sale of assets ("hold
to collect contractual cash flows and sell"); and
iii) if neither of i) and ii) is applicable, the financial assets are classified as part of "other" business
model and measured at FWPL. This business model will include: assets held for trading, assets
measured and evaluated on FV basis, Assets that failed solely payments of principal and interest
(SPPI) test.
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
forthe Year Ended 31 December 2018

2. Accountingpolicies(continued)

2.4 Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement - busrness model (continued)

Business model is determined for a group of assets (on a portfolio level) based on all relevant
evidence about the activities that the Company undertakes to achieve the objective set out for the
portfolio available at the date of the assessment. Factors considered by the Company in determining
the business model include the purpose and composition of a portfolio, past experience on how the
cash flows for the respective assets were collected, how risks are assessed and managed, how the
assets' performance is assessed and how managers are compensated.

Classification and subsequent measurement - cash flow characteristics

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to hold contractual
cash flows and sell, the Company assesses whether the cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest (the SPPI test). Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are consistent with the SPPI feature.

ln making this assessment, the Company considers whether the contractual cash flows are
consistent with a basic lending arrangement, i.e. interest includes only consideration for credit risk,
time value of money, other basic lending risks and profit margin. Where the contractual terms
introduce exposure to risk or volatility that is inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the
financial asset is classified and measured at FWPL. The SPPI assessment is performed on initial
recognition of an asset and it is not subsequently reassessed. However, if the contractual terms of
the asset are modified, the Company considers if the contractual cash flows continue to consistent
with a basic lending arrangement in assessing whether the modification is substantial.

Reclassification

Financial instruments are reclassified only when the business model for managing those assets
changes. The reclassification has a prospective effect and takes place from the start of the first
reporting period following the change.

lmpairment - credrt /oss allowance for ECL

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL for debt instruments measured at AC
and FVOCI and for the exposure arising from loan commitments. The Company measures ECL and
recognizes credit loss allowance at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

1) an unbiased and probability weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes;
2) the time value of money; and
3) all reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost and effort at the
end of each reporting period about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions.

Debt instruments measured at AC are presented in the statement of financial position net of the
allowance for ECL. For loan commitments (where those component can be separated from the loan),
a separate provision for ECL is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial position. For debt
instruments at FVOCI, an allowance for ECL is recognised in profit or loss and affects fair value gains
or losses recognised in OCI rather than the carrying amount of those instruments.
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2. Accountingpolicies(continued)

2.4 Financial assets (continued)

lmpairment - credrT /oss allowance for ECL (continued)

The Company applies a "three stage" model for impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, based on
changes in credit quality since initial recognition:

1) Financial assets that are in stage 1 are those that do not have a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Financial assets in Stage t have their ECL measured at an amount equal to
the portion of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within the next 12 months (12
month ECL).
2) lf the Company identifies a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial recognition, the
asset is transferred to Stage 2 and its ECL is measured based on ECL on a lifetime basis (lifetime
ECL).
3) lf the Company determines that a financial asset is credit-impaired, the asset is transferred to
Stage 3 and its ECL is measured as a lifetime ECL.

Modification

The Company sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual terms of the financial
assets. The Company assesses whether the modification of contractual cash flows is substantial
considering, among others, the following factors: any new contractual terms that substantially affect
the risk profile of the asset (e.9. profit share or equity-based return), significant change in interest
rate, change in the currency denomination, insertion of collateral or credit enhancement that
significantly affect the credit risk associated with the asset, significant extension of the loan when the
borrower is in financial difficulty.

lf the modified terms are substantially different so that the rights to cash flows from the original asset
are deemed to have expired, the Company derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a
new asset at fair value. The date of renegotiation is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
impairment calculation purposes, including determining whether a SICR has occurred. The Company
also assesses whether the new asset meets the SPPI criterion. ln a situation where the renegotiation
was driven by the financial difficulties of the debtor and inability to make the originally agreed
payments, the Company assesses whether the modified asset is deemed to be credit-impaired at
initial recognition. Difference in the carrying amounts are recognised in the profit or loss for the
period.

lf the terms of the modified asset are not substantially different, the modification does not result in
derecognition. The Company recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash
flows, by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted
effective interest rate for POCI financial assets), and recognises a modification gain or loss in the
profit or loss for the period.

Derecognition (other than through a substantial modification)

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised in the statement of financial position where:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or retained the
right to receive cash flows from the asset but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full
without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through" arrangement; and
The Company either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
(b) has neither transferred nor retained all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2. Accountingpolicies(continued)

2.5 Financial liabilities

Classification and subse quent measurement categories

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at AC, except for:

financial liabilities at FWPL: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities held
for trading (e.9. short positions in securities), contingent consideration recognised by an

acquirer in a business combination and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial

recognition; and
financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

Modification

The exchange between the Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially
different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new
financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash
flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. ln addition, other qualitative factors, such as the
currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion
features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. lf an
exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. lf the
exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred
adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified
liability.

Derecognition (other than through a substantial modification)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.6 Gash and cash equivalents

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty
on notice of not more lhan 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in no
more than three months from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at
AC as: (i) they are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent SPPI,
and (ii) they are not designated at FVTPL.

ln the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company's cash management.
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2. Accountingpolicies(continued)

2.7 Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements and securities lending

Sale and repurchase agreements ("repos") are treated as secured financing transactions. Securities
sold under sale and repurchase agreements are retained in the statement of financial position and, in
the case that the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge them, reclassified
as securities pledged under sale and repurchase agreements. The corresponding liability is
presented within amounts due to credit institutions and other customers. Securities purchased under
agreements to resell ("reverse repurchase agreement") are recorded as amounts due from credit
institutions and other customers. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as
interest and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreements using the effective interest method.

2.8 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income includes investments in debt
securities.

Debt securities that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling, where those cash
flows represent SPPI, and that are not designated at FWPL, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in
the fair value of these investments are recognised in other comprehensive income and any
impairment amount determined based on the expected loss model is recognised in profit or loss for
the year. lnterest income from these assets is calculated using the effective interest method and
recognised in profit or loss. When the debt security is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from OCI to profit or loss.

2.9 Loans to customers

Loans and advances to customers are recorded when the Company advances money to purchase or
originate a receivable from a customer. Based on the business model and the cash flow
characteristics, the Company classifles loans and advances to customers into one of the following
measu rement categories:

1) AC: loans that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and those cash flows represent
SPPI, and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at AC.
2) FWPL: loans that do not meet the criteria for AC or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL (mandatory
FVTPL).

lmpairment of the loans measured at AC is determined based on forward-looking ECL model.

2.10 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category "financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss". Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for
the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading. Gains or
losses on financial assets held for trading are recognised in the income statement.

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are securities designated irrevocably, at
initial recognition, into this category. Financial assets are classified into this category only when (a)
the classification eliminates or significantly reduces the mismatch which would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising gains and losses from them on different bases; (b)
management over a group of financial assets, liabilities or both is measured at fair value; (c) the
financial instrument contains one or more embedded derivatives which significantly modify the cash
flows under the contract, which leads to failing the SPPI test.
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2. Accountingpolicies(continued)

2.1 I Derivative financial instruments

ln the normal course of business, the Company enters into various derivative financial instruments
including futures, forwards, swaps and options in the foreign exchange and capital markets. Such
financial instruments are held for trading and are initially recorded at fair value. The fair values are
estimated based on quoted market prices or pricing models that take into account the current market
and contractual prices of the underlying instruments and other factors. Derivatives are carried as
assets when their fair value is positive and as liability when it is negative. Gains and losses resulting
from these instruments are included in the income statement as net gains/(losses) from derivative
financial instruments, securities, foreign currencies and other derivatives, depending on the nature of
the instrument.

Certain derivative instruments embedded in financial liabilities and other non-financial contracts are
treated as separate derivative instruments when their risks and characteristics are not closely related
to those of the host contract.

Derivatives embedded in other financial liabilities are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at
fair value if their economic characteristics and risk are not closely related to those of the host
contract, and the host contract is not itself held for trading or designated at fair value in the trading
portfolio, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement.

2.12 Brokerage accounts

Brokerage accounts are non-deriviative liabilities to customers and are carried at AC

2.13 Leases

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis
over the period of the lease.

2.14 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category comprised financial liabilities classified as held for trading. A financial liability is

classified as held for trading if it acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the
near term or it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that were managed together and
for which there was evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking or taken for the
purpose of hedging existing firm's exposure.

29



Sova Gapital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

2. Accountingpolicies(continued)

2.15 Current and deferred taxation

The tax expense or credit represents the sum of the tax currently payable or recoverable and the
deferred tax charge or credit for the year. Tax is recognised ln the income statemenl, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised ln other comprehensive income and directly in equity. ln this
case, the tax is also recognised ln other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The tax currently payable or recoverable ls based on taxable profit or loss for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit as reported ln the statement of comprehensive income because lt excludes ltems
of income or expenditure that are taxable or deductible in other periods and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Company's liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or the initial recognition (other than ln a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities ln a transaction which affects neither the tax profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset ls
realised or the liability is settled. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except
where it relates to items credited or charged directly to other comprehensive income or equity, in
which case the deferred tax ls also dealt with in other comprehensive income or equity.

2.l6lntangible assets

lntangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Afier recognition, under the cost model, intangible
assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

lntangible assets are amortised over 5 years.
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2.17 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operation in the
manner intended by management.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight line method.

Depreciation is provided on the following basis:

Leasehold improvements - 20o/o per annum
Fixtures, fittings and equipments - 33% to 75o/o per annum

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
prospectively if appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting
date.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the income statement.

Equipment which doesn't exceed the Company's minimum capitalisation limit ($5001 is expensed
when incurred as well as costs of minor repairs and day-to-day maintenance.

2.1 8 lnvestments in subsidiaries

lnvestments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated impairment. Where merger relief
is applicable, the cost of the investment in a subsidiary undertaking is measured at the nominal value
of the shares issued together with the fair value of any additional consideration paid.

During the 2018 year the last subsidiary was liquidated with the cost of $1,277 .

2.19 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The Company's functional and presentational currency is USD.

Transactions and balances

Transactions entered into by the Company entities in a currency other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which they operate (their functional currency) are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are recognised immediately in the income statement.
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2.20 Pensions

Defined contribution pension plan

2.21Equity

Share capital

The Company operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Once the
contributions have been paid the Company has no further payment obligations.

The contributions are recognised as an expense in the income statement when they fall due.
Amounts not paid are shown in accruals as a liability in the statement of financial position. The assets
of the plan are held separately from the Company in independently administered funds.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. External costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares, other than on a business combination are shown as a deduction from the proceeds in equity.
Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is
recognised as share premium in equity.

Dividends

Dividends are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity at the reporting date only if they are
declared before or on the reporting date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the
reporting date or proposed or declared after the reporting date but before the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

The nature of other components of equity is as follows:

Share premium

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

Financialassefs at FVOCI reserue

Gains and losses arising on financial assets FVOCI.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Gains and losses arising on retranslating operations into USD at date of functional currency change.

Retained earnings

All other net gains and losses and transactions with owners (e.9. dividends) not recognised
elsewhere.
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2.22 Recognition of income and expenses

lnterest and similar income and expense

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest bearing securities classified as
trading or FVOCI, interest income or expense is recorded at the effective interest rate, which is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the
financial lnstrument (for example, prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental costs
that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the effective lnterest rate, but
not future credit losses. The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if
the Company revises its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is

calculated based on the original effective interest rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded
as interest income or expense.

For financial assets that are originated or purchased credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is the
rate that discounts the expected cash flows (including the initial expected credit losses) to the fair
value on initial recognition (normally represented by the purchase price). As a result, the effective
interest is credit-adjusted.

lnterest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
financial assets, except for:

i) financial assets that have become credit-impaired (Stage 3), for which interest revenue is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their AC (net of the ECL provision); and
ii) financial assets that are purchased or originated credit-impaired, for which the original credit-
adjusted effective interest rate is applied to the AC.

Fee and commission income

Revenue is recognised when the Company satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a
promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the
customer obtains control of that asset.

The Company earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its
customers. Fee lncome can be divided into the following two categories:

Fee income earned from services that are provided over a ceftain period of time

When control of a good or service is transferred over time, if the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Company's performance, the Company satisfies the
performance obligation and recognizes revenue over time. These fees include commission income
and asset management, custody and other management and advisory fees.
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2.22 Recognition of income and expenses (continued)

Fee income earned at a point in time

Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party - such
as the arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of
businesses - are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees
that are linked to a certain performance are recognised after fulfilling the corresponding criteria.

For all fee types, where there is a single performance obligation, the transaction price is allocated in
its entirety to that performance obligation. Where there are multiple performance obligations, the
transaction price is allocated to the performance obligation to which it relates based on stand-alone
selling prices.

The Company has applied the practical expedient in IFRS 15.121(a) as all of its performance
obligations remaining were part of contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or
less.

Profit and /osses from proprietary trading

Profits and losses resulting from the purchase and sale of securities, foreign currencies and
derivatives as well as the revaluation of financial instruments are recognized as trading gains or
losses on a trade-date basis, including related transaction costs but excluding the associated interest.

Dividend income

Revenue is recognised when the Company's right to receive the payment is established
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Company makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding the future. Estimates and judgements
are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. ln the future, actual experience may
differ from these estimates and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets
where possible, but where this is not feasible a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values.

ECL Measurement

Calculation and measurement of ECLs is an area of significant judgement, and implies methodology,
models and data inputs. Refer to Note 5 for details of ECL measurements methodology applied by the
Company. The following components of ECL calculation have the major impact on credit loss allowance
for ECLs: default definition, SICR, PD, EAD, LGD, macromodels and scenario analysis for credit impaired
loans. The Company regularly reviews and validates models and inputs to the models to reduce any
differences between expected credit loss estimates and actual credit loss experience.

Determining busrness model

ln determining the appropriate measurement category for debt financial instruments, the Company applies
two assessments: the business model assessment for managing the assets and the SPPI test based on
contractual cash flows characteristics on initial recognition. The business model assessment is

determined on a certain level of aggregation and the Company was required to apply judgement to
determine the level at which business model condition is applied.

Write-off policy

Financial assets are written-off, in whole or in part, when the Company exhausted all practical recovery
efforts and has concluded that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Determining the cash flows
for which there is no reasonable expectation of recovery requires judgement.
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4. Accounting policies applicable before 1 January 2018

Accounting policies applicable to the comparative period ended 31 December 2017 that were amended by
IFRS 9, are as follows.

Financialassefs at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets classified as held for trading are included in the category "financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss". Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the
purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on financial assets held for trading are
recognised in the income statement.

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are securities designated irrevocably, at initial
recognition, into this category. Financial assets are classified into this category only when (a) the
classification eliminates or significantly reduces the mismatch which would otherwise arise from
measuring assets or liabilities or recognising gains and losses from them on different bases; (b)
management over a group of financial assets, liabilities or both is measured at fair value; (c) the financial
instrument contains one or more embedded derivatives which significantly modify the cash flows under the
contract.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the loans and receivables are
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortised process.

Available-for-sale financrbl assefs

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as
available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the two preceding categories and heldto-maturity. After
initial recognition available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses being
recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is
determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to the income statement. However, interest calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the income statement.

lmpairment of financial assefs

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred "loss event") and that loss event (or
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicates that there
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.
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lmpairment of amounts due from credit institutions and other customers

For amounts due from credit institutions and other customers carried at amortised cost, the Company first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant, lf the
Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

lf there is an objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the assets' carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is

recognised in the income statement. lnterest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount based on the original effective interest rate of the asset. Loans together with the associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been
realised or has been transferred to the Company. lf, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. lf a future write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the income statement.

The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original effective
interest rate. lf a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is
the current effective interest rate. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows
of a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for
obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.

For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the
internal credit grading system that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry,
geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors.

Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to
those in the group. Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect
the effects of current conditions that did not affect the years on which the historical loss experience is

based and to remove the effects of current conditions in the historical period that do not exist currently.
Estimates of changes in future cash flows reflect, and are directionally consistent with, changes in related
observable data from year to year (such as changes in unemployment rates, property prices, commodity
prices, payment status, or other factors that are indicative of incurred losses in the Company or their
magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed
regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.
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lmpairment of available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Company assesses at each reporting date whether there
is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

ln the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence
of impairment, the cumulative loss is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the income
statement. lmpairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the income statement;
increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

ln the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, impairment is assessed based on the same
criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. Future interest income is based on the reduced
carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income is recorded in the income statement. lf, in
a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income statement, the
impairment loss is reversed through the income statement.
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5. New standards, interpretations and amendments not yet effective

There are a number of standards, amendments to standards, and interpretations which have been issued
by the IASB that are effective in future accounting periods that the Company has decided not to adopt
early. The most significant of these are:

IFRS 16 Leases (mandatorily effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019); and

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over lncome Tax Treatments (effective 1 January 2019).

a

a

IFRS 16 leases (endorsed for use in the European Union on 31 October 2017)

The new standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of
leases. All leases result in the lessee obtaining the right to use an asset at the start of the lease and, if
lease payments are made over time, also obtaining financing. Accordingly, IFRS 16 eliminates the
classification of leases as either operating leases or finance leases as is required by IAS 17 and, instead,
introduces a single lessee accounting model. Lessees will be required to recognise: (a) assets and
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value;
and (b) depreciation of lease assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the income statement.
IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor
eontinues to elassjJy its leases as aperatjng leaseq or finance leases, and to account for those two types
of leases differently.

The Company decided that it will apply the standard using the modified retrospective method, without
restatement of comparatives. The Company will recognise a right of use asset of in amount of $4,141,755
against a corresponding lease liability on 1 January 2019. A reconciliation of the operating lease
commitments disclosed in Note 30 to this liability is as follows:

Lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease (Note 30)
Future lease payments under IFRS 16

Effect of discounling
Lease liability under IFRS 16

Right of use under IFRS 16

As at I January 2019

$

4,8I5,068
4,815,068

(673,313)

4,141,758
4,141,755
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IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over lncome Tax Treatments (endorsed for use in the EU on 23 October 2018)

IAS 12 specifies how to account for current and deferred tax, but not how to reflect the effects of
uncertainty. The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition and measurement requirements in
IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. An entity should determine whether to
consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more other uncertain tax
treatments based on which approach better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty. An entity should
assume that a taxation authority will examine amounts it has a right to examine and have full knowledge of
all related information when making those examinations. lf an entity concludes it is not probable that the
taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect of uncertainty will be reflected in
determining the related taxable profit or loss, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits or tax
rates, by using either the most likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method the entity
expects to better predict the resolution of the uncertainty. An entity will reflect the effect of a change in
facts and circumstances or of new information that affects the judgments or estimates required by the
interpretation as a change in accounting estimate. Examples of changes in facts and circumstances or
new information that can result in the reassessment of a judgment or estimate include, but are not limited
to, examinations or actions by a taxation authority, changes in rules established by a taxation authority or
the expiry of a taxation authority's right to examine or re-examine a tax treatment. The absence of
agreement or disagreement by a taxation authority with a tax treatment, in isolation, is unlikely to
constitute a change in facts and circumstances or new information that affects the judgments and
estimates required by the lnterpretation. The Company is currently assessing the impact of the
interpretation on its financial statements.
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Sova Gapital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

6. lntangible assets

Gost

At 1 January2018

Additions

At31 December2018

Amortisation

At 1 January2018

Charge for the year

At31 December2018

Net book value

At31 December2018

At31 December2017

Licenses

674,000

33,880

707,880

134,800

165,047

299,847

408,033

539,200

$

During the year, computer software licensing was acquired and capitalised as an intangible asset.
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

7. Property, plant and equipment

Cost
At 1 January2018

Additions

At 31 December 2018

Depreciation
At 1 January2018

Charge for the year

At31 December2018

Net book value

At31 December2018

At31 December2OlT

Leasehold Fixtures and
lmprovements fittings

$$

2,591,012

992,808

12,210,593

205,547

Total
$

14,801,595

1,{ 99,355

3,583,820 12,416,130 15,999,950

2,591,012

262,309

11,473,372

557,616

14,064,384

819,925

2,853,321 12,030,999 14,994,309

730,499 385,142 1,1',15,641

737,211 737,211
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Sova Gapital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

8. Adoption of new or revised standards and interpretations

Adoption of IFRS 9

The Company has adopted IFRS 9, Financial lnstruments, with a date of transition of 1 January2018,
which resulted in changes in accounting policies for recognition, classification and measurement of
financial assets and liabilities and impairment of financial assets.

The Company elected not to restate comparative figures and recognised any adjustments to the carrying
amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the date of initial application in the opening retained earnings
of the current period. Consequently, the revised requirements of the IFRS 7, Financial lnstruments:
Disclosures, have only been applied to the current period. The comparative period disclosures repeat
those disclosures made in the prior year.

Details of the specific IFRS 9 accounting policies applied in the current period are described in Note 2.
Respective policies adopted prior to 1 January 2018 and applicable for comparative information are
disclosed in Note 4.

The impact of the IFRS 9 adoption on the Company is disclosed on the following pages
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

9. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

2018
$

As restated
2017

$
Non-trading debt securities

Bonds of foreign governments

Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

35,236,100

35,236,100

Bonds of foreign governments are represented by treasury bonds issued by the United States
Department of the Treasury denominated in US dollars.

The table below contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of debt securities measured at FVOCI at
31 December 2018, for which an ECL allowance is recognised, based on credit risk grades. Refer to Note
28 tor the description of credit risk grading system used by the Company and the approach to ECL
measurement, including the definition of default and SICR as applicable to debt securities at FVOCI.

Stage 1 (12-
months

ECL)
$

Stage 2
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Stage 3
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

POCr Total
$$

Bonds of foreign
governments

- Excellent

- Good

- Satisfactory

- Special monitoring

- Default

Total financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

35,236,100 35,236,100

35,236,100 35,236,100

The debt securities at FVOCI are not collateralised
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued)

The following tables explains the changes in the credit loss allowance and gross carrying amount for debt
securities at FVOCI between the beginning and the end of the year.

Credit loss allowance

Bonds of foreign
governments

At 1 January2018

Movements with impact on
credit loss allowance charge
for the year:

Transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to
Stage 2)

- to credit-impaired (from Stage
1 and Stage 2 to Stage 3)

- to 12-months ECL (from
Stage 2 and Stage 3 to Stage
1)

New originated or purchased

Derecognised during the year

Changes to ECL measurement
model assumptions

Other movements

Total movements with impact
on credit loss allowance
charge for the year

At31 December20l8

Stage I (12-
months

ECL)
$

2

(4)

Stage 2
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Stage 3
(Lifetime

ECL)
$ $

44

POCt
$

Total

2

(4)

(2) (2)

2 2
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
forthe Year Ended 31 December20l8

9. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (continued)

Gross carrying amount

Stage I (12-
months

ECL)
$

35,041,901

35,236,100

(35,041,901)

Stage 2
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Stage 3
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Total
$

35,041,801

35,236,100

(35,041,801)

194,299

POCt
$

Bonds of foreign goverments

At 1 January2018

Movements with impact on
credit loss allowance charge
for the year:

Transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to
Stage 2)

- to credit-impaired (from Stage
1 and Stage 2 to Stage 3)

- to 12-months ECL (from
Stage 2 and Stage 3 to Stage
1)

New originated or purchased

Derecognised during the year

Changes to ECL measurement
model assumptions

Other movements

Total movements with impact
on credit loss allowance
charge for the year

At 31 December 2018

194,299

35,236,100 35,236,100
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

10. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise

2018
$

As restated
2017

$

Held by the Company

Trading debt securities issued by state and municipal authorities

Eurobonds of the Russian Federation

Eurobonds of foreign governments

Corporate trading debt securities

Corporate Eurobonds

Total trading debt securities

Corporate trading equity securities

Corporate shares

Total trading equity securities

Non-trading debt securities

Bonds of foreign governments

Total non-trading debt securities

Non-trading equity securities

Corporate shares

Total non-trading equity securities

Derivative financial instru ments

Derivative fi nancial instruments

Total derivative financial instruments

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

344,016

10,438,681

317,467

23,692,056

27,378,935 135,379,780

39,161,632 159,389,303

51,455,821 95,912,367

51,455,821 95,912,367

35,041,801

35,041,801

7,954,502 21,788,904

7,954,502 21,788,904

252,294,261 406,048,682

252,294,261 406,048,682

349,866,216 718,181,057
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Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the Year Ended 31 December 2018

10. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Pledged under repurchase agreements

Trading debt securities issued by state and municipal authorities
Eurobonds of the Russian Federation

Eurobonds of foreign governments

Corporate trading debt securities
Corporate Eurobonds

Trading equity securities

Corporate shares

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss pledged
under repurchase agreement

2018
$

As restated
2017

$

Analysis of debt financial assets at fair value through profit or loss by credit quality as of 31 December
2018 is as follows:

8,030,175 55,149,199

46,727,478

135,223,250 51,551,991

189,980,903 106,701,179

187,695,297 78,034,742

187,695,297 79,034,742

377,676,200 184,735,921

Sub'
investment

grade
$

Eurobonds of the Russian Federation

Eurobonds of foreign governments

Corporate Eurobonds

lnvestment
grade

$

8,374,191

30,153,179

87,666,541

27,012,981

74,935,644

Total
$

8,374,191

57,166,159

162,602,195

126,193,910 101,949,625 229,142,535

The ratings in the tables above are determined based on the rating scales of international rating
agencies.
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10. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Analysis of debt financial assets at fair value through profit or loss by credit quality as of 31 December
2017 is as follows:

Eurobonds of the Russian Federation

Eurobonds of foreign governments

Bonds of foreign governments

Corporate Eurobonds

Fonalards and futures contracts

Swaps

Options

Fair value of Fair value of Fair value of Fair value of
assets 31 liabilities 31 assets 31 liabilities 31

December December December December
2018 2018 2017 2017

$$$$
224,104,243 (33,980,142) 368,674,926 (87,978,27',,1

462,927 (743,1141 283,330 (495,580)

27,727,091 (11,729,072) 37,090,426 (8,770,1171

lnvestment
grade

$

55,466,665

2,002,199

35,041,801

61,676,920

Sub'
investment

grade
$

Total
$

55,466,665

23,692,056

35,041,801

186,931,761

21,689,857

125,254,841

154,187,585 146,944,698 301,132,283

The ratings in the tables above are determined based on the rating scales of international rating
agencies.

The Company enters into derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The table below shows
the fair values of derivative financial instruments, recorded as assets or liabilities in the financial
statements of the Company.

252,294,261 (46,452,328) 406,048,682 (97,243,968)

The total nominal value of derivative assets held at 31 December 2018 was $2,051,6'12,939 (2017 -

$1,734,703,339) and the total nominal value of derivative liabilities held at 31 December 2018 was
$1,47 1,601,980 (2017 - $2,300,261,120).

Forwards and futures are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial instrument at a
specific price and date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over-the-
counter market. Futures are transacted in standardised amounts on regulated exchanges and are subject
to daily cash margin requirements.

Swaps are over-the-counter derivative contracts between two parties exchanging a sequence of cash
flows with another at a predetermined rate in the future period mutually agreed between them.

Options are derivative contracts that give its owner the right to buy or sell a specified financial instrument
at an agreed-upon price within a certain time period.
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11. lnvestment securities available-for-sale

I nvestment securities available-for-sale comprise :

Corporate equity securities

Corporate shares

Total equity securities available-for-sale

Total i nvestment secu rities avai lable-for-sale

2018
$

As restated
2017

$

5,331,500

5,331,500

5,331,500
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12. Amounts due from credit institutions and other customers

Amounts due from credit institutions and other customers comprise

Reverse repurchase agreements

Loans to customers

Credit loss allowance

2018
$

As restated
2017

$

1,350,724,125

3,517,111

(5,843)

210,427,200

8,367,563

Total amounts due from credit institutions and other customers 1,354,235,393 218,794,763

Reverse repurchase agreements represent the company's securities reverse repurchase transactions.
From thc cconomic standpoint, rcvcrsc rcpurchasc is similar to issuing loans collateralised by securities.

The following table contains an analysis of due from credit institutions and other customers balances by credit
quality at 31 December 2018 based on credit risk grades and discloses due from credit institutions and other
customers balances by three stages for the purpose of ECL measurement. Refer to Note 28 for the
description of credit risk grading system used by the Company and the approach to ECL measurement,
including the definition of default and SICR as applicable to due from credit institutions and other customers
balances. The carrying amount of due from credit institutions and other customers at 31 December 2018
below also represents the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets:

Amounts due from credit institutions and other customers

Stage I
(12-months

ECL)
$

6,115,228

174

230,273,869

19,466,673

Stage 2
(Lifetime ECL)

$

1,098,385,292

Stage 3
Lifetime

ECL)
$

Total
$

6,115,228

174

230,273,869

1 ,1 17,951 ,965

1,354,241,236
(5,843)

1,354,235,393

POCr
$

- Excellent

- Good

- Satisfactory

- Special monitoring

Gross carrying amount

Credit loss allowance

Totalcarrying amount

255,855,944

(1,14e)

255,854,795

1,098,385,292

(4,694)

1,098,380,598
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12. Amounts due from credit institutions and other customers (continued)

The following table explains the changes in the credit loss allowance between the beginning and the end
of the year.

Gredit loss allowance

Stage 1

(12-months
ECL)

$

284,833

1 ,150
(284,833)

Stage 2
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

747

4,693

(747)

Stage 3
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Total
$

285,580

5,843

(285,580)

(27e,737)

POCt
$

Amounts due from credit
institutions and other
customers

At 1 January2018

Movements with impact on
transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to
Stage 2)

- to credit-impaired (from
Stage 1 and Stage 2 to Stage
3)

- to 12-months ECL (from
Stage 2 and Stage 3 to Stage
1)

New originated or purchased

Derecognised during the period

Changes to ECL measurement
model assumptions

Other movements

Total movements with impact
on credit loss allowance
charge for the period

At 31 December 2018

(283,683) 3,946

1 ,150 4,693 5,843
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12. Amounts due from credit institutions and other customers (continued)

The following table explains the changes in the gross carrying amount due from credit institutions and
other customers balances between the beginning and the end of the year.

Gross carrying amount

Stage I
(12-months

ECL)
$

Stage 2
(Lifetime EGL)

$

Stage 3
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Total
$

218,794,763

1,354,241,236

(218,794,763)

POCt
$

Amounts due from
credit institutions and
other customers

At 1 January2018

Movement with impact on
transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1

to Stage 2)

- to credit-impaired (from
Stage 1 and Stage 2 to
Stage 3)

- to 12-months ECL (from
Stage 2 and Stage 3 to
Stage 1)

New originated or
purchased

Derecognised during the
period

Changes to ECL
measurement model
assumptions

Other movements

Total movements with
impact on gross
carrying amount for
the period

31 December2018

218,553,438 241,325

255,855,945 1,098,385,291

(218,553,438) (241,325)

37,302,507 1,098,143,966 1,135,446,473

255,855,945 1,098,385,291 1,354,241,236

59



Sova Gapital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
forthe Year Ended 31 December2018

12. Amounts due from credit institutions and other customers (continued)

Collateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral required by the Company depends on an assessment of the credit risk
of the counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and
valuation parameters.

The main type of collateral obtained for reserve repurchase transactions are securities
For reverse repurchase transactions - securities;

Reverse repurchase agreements

The loans issued under reverse repurchase agreements and the value of securities received as collateral
are as follows:

Carrying
amount of

funds
transferred

2018
$

958,179,729

346,339,956

3,681,179

2,917,969

39,707,493

Fair value of
collateral

2018
$

1,330,901,493

437,600,332

4,639,696

3,311,955

48,443,415

27,424,460

5,210,938

28,611,761

5,205,550

Garrying
amount of

funds Fair value of
transferred collateral

2017 2017
$$

167,956,808 208,360,579

9,834,994 14,555,439

Totalreverse repurchase agreements 1,350,724,125 1,824,895,871 210,427,200 256,733,329

Concentration of amounts due from credit institutions and other customers

Amounts due have been extended to the following categories of customers:

Corporate shares

Corporate Eurobonds

Eurobonds of foreign governments

Corporate bonds

Eurobonds of the Russian Federation

Financial institutions

lnvestment companies

Corporates

lndividuals

2018
$

22,155,229

1,299,209,005

18,2',17,331

14,659,672

As restated
2017

$

65,768,062

152,785,376

241,325

Total amounts due from credit institutions and other customers 1,354,241,236 218,794,763
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13. Other assets

Other assets comprise:

20'18
$

As restated
2017

$

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Receivables on unsettled trades

Dividends and coupons receivables

Guarantee deposit placed

Settlements under spot deals with foreign currency

Amounts in course of settlement

Cash margin receivable on repurchase agreements

Less credit loss allowance

Total other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Variation margin deposit placed

Total other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Other non-financial assets

Amounts receivable from customers and clients

Receivables from personnel

Other tax and social security recoverable

Prepayments and advances to suppliers

Other non-fi nancial assets

Total other non-financial assets

Total other assets

31,236,807

2,933,709

1,264,751

21,702

3,250,543

52,479,227

(152,268)

61,627,990

1 ,139,968

12,150,000

397,423

1,035,658

11,349,922

90,934,471 87,700,961

32,140,391

32,140,391

359,745

2,355,126

48,122

152,556

6,313

712,779

2,529,474

1,026,040

2,762,993 4,427,162

93,697,464 124,268,514
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13. Other assets (continued)

The table below contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of other financial assets at amortised
cost. The carrying amount of other financial assets at amortised cost at 31 December 2018 below also
represents the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets:

Stage I Stage 2 Stage 3
(12-months (Lifetime (Lifetime

ECL) ECL) ECL)
$$$

POCt
$

Total
$

15,292,006

15,478,829

45,622,415

14,693,489

Other financial assets at
amortised cost

- Excellent

- Good

- Satisfactory

- Special monitoring

- Default

Gross carrying amount

Credit loss allowance

Totalcarrying amount

15,292,006

15,478,829

45,622,415

3,653,856 11,039,633

80,047,106

(135,227)

11,039,633

(17,041)

91,086,739

(152,268)

79,911,879 11,022,592 90,934,471
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13. Other assets (continued)

The following table explains the changes in the credit loss allowance for other financial assets under
general ECL model between the beginning and the end of the year.

Gredit loss allowance

Stage I
(12-months

ECL)
$

135,227

(252,704)

Stage 2
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

17,041

(13,2211

Stage 3
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Total
$

265,925

152,268

(265,925)

POCt
$

Other financial assets at
amortised cost

At 1 January2018

Movement with impact on
transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to
Stage 2)

- to credit-impaired (from
Stage 1 and Stage 2 to Stage
3)

- to 12-months ECL (from
Stage 2 and Stage 3 to Stage
1)

New originated or purchased

Derecognised during the period

Changes to ECL measurement
model assumptions

Other movements

Total movements with impact
on credit loss allowance
charge for the period

At 31 December 2018

252,704 13,221

(1 13,657)(1',17,477) 3,820

135,227 17,041 152,268
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13. Other assets (continued)

The following table explains the changes in the gross carrying amount for other financial assets under
general ECL model between the beginning and the end of the year.

Gross carrying amount

Stage 1

(12-months
ECL)

$

80,047,101

(87,495,453)

Stage 2
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

11,039,638

(205,508)

Stage 3
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Total
$

87,700,961

91,086,739

(87,700,e61)

POCt
$

Other financial assets at
amortised cost

1 January2018

Movement with impact on
transfers:

- to lifetime (from Stage 1 to
Stage 2)

- to credit-impaired (stage 1

and Stage 2 to Stage 3)

- to 12-months ECL (Stage 2
and Stage 3 to Stage 1)

New originated or purchased

Derecognised during the period

Changes to ECL measurement
model assumptions

Other movements

Total movements with impact
on gross carrying amount
for the period

87,495,453 205,508

(7,448,352) 1 0,834,1 30 3,385,778

31 December2OlS 80,047,101 11,039,638 91,086,739
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14. Gash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

13,839,344

234

393,715,298

2,566,578

(15,162)

As restated
2017

$

169,473,348

856

33,674,56't

25,298,368

2018
$

Settlement and correspondent accounts with banks

Cash on hand

Amounts on brokerage accounts

Amounts at stock exchanges' clearing houses

Credit loss allowance

Totalcash and cash equivalents

- Excellent

- Good

- Satisfactory

- Special monitoring

Gross carrying amount

Credit loss allowance

Garrying amount of cash and cash
equivalents, excluding cash on hand

410,106,292 228,447,133

Amounts on brokerage accounts represent the Company's balances on accounts with brokerage
companies, which the Company transferred under brokerage services agreements to enter into securities
and futures contracts, and meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents.

Amounts with stock exchanges'clearing houses represent the Company's unrestricted cash balances on
stock exchanges' accounts.

lncluded within cash and cash equivelents are amounts relating to client money accounts of $20,233,559
(2017 - $29,108,734).

The table below discloses the credit quality of cash and cash equivalents balances based on credit risk
grades at 31 December 2018. Refer to Note 28 for the description of credit risk grading system used by the
Company. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2018 below also represents
the Company's maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets:

Settlement and
correspondent Amounts on
amounts with brokerage

banks accounts
$$

3,324,486 271,060,091

- 35,719,650

10,514,858 86,935,557

13,839,344 393,715,298

(708) (14,443)

2,168,053 276,552,630

375,504 36,095,154

23,021 97,473,436

2,566,578 410,121,220

(1 1) (15,162)

Stock
exchanges'

clearing
houses

$
Total

$

13,838,636 393,700,855 2,566,567 410,106,058

For the purpose of ECL measurement cash and cash equivalent balances are included in Stage 1. Refer
to Note 28 for the ECL measurement approach.
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14. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

Movements in the cash and cash equivalents credit loss allowance for the reporting period ended 31
December 2018 are as follows:

Stage 1

(12-months
ECL)

$

18,277

(3,1 15)

Stage 2
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Stage 3
(Lifetime

ECL)
$

Total
$

18,277

(3,115)

15.

At 1 January201B

Change during the year

Obligations to deliver securities

Derivative fi nancial liabilities

At31 December20l8 15,162

There were no movements in gross exposure between the stages during the reporting period

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise:

2018
$

118,785,882

46,452,329

15,162

As restated
2017

$

76,854,148

97,243,969

165,238,211 174,099,1 16

Obligations to deliver securities are represented by a short position in stock exchange transactions with
securities.

Derivative financial liabilities are mainly represented by options and forwards for underlying assets,
including foreign currencies or securities.

All financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are held for trading.
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16. Amounts due to credit institutions and other customers

Amounts due to credit institutions and other customers comprise:

Brokerage accounts

Repurchase agreements

20'18
$

175,795,704

1,349,621,262

As restated
2017

$

168,224,474

181 ,033,010

1,525,416,966 349,257,484

Due to the short-term nature of these financial liabilities, the carrying values of amounts due to credit
institutions approximate fair value. The fair value of the collateral amount pertaining to repurchase
agreements was $1 ,587,891 ,596 (2017 - $181 ,033,010).
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17. Other liabilities

Other liabilities comprise

2018
$

As restated
2017

$

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

Guarantee deposit received on derivatives

Payables on unsettled trades

Dividends and coupons payable

Liabilities under spot deals with foreign currency

Personnel compensation payable

Cash margin payables on repurchase agreements

Settlements with suppliers

Other non-financial liabilities

Provision for contingencies and commitments

Other taxation and social security

105,635,055

23,770,018

2,439,415

12,912

7,003,609

2,764,376

725,439

199,249,020

39,669,197

909,657

1,020,194

6,109,217

4,373,057

1,012,024

Total other financial liabilities at amortised cost 142,350,823 252,341,346

Other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Variation margin deposit received 400,571,021 350,908,920

Total other financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 400,571,021 350,908,920

2,449,611

304,624 369,814

Total other non-financial liabilities 2,753,235 369,914

Total other liabilities 545,675,079 603,620,080

A provision in the amount of $2,448,611 has been made in respect of unrecoverable VAT potentially
arising from a voluntary self-assessment of the VAT position being conducted by the Company.
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17. Other liabilities (continued)

Movement in the provision for contingencies and commitments during the year ended 31 December 2018
is as follows:

Provision for
contingencies

and
commitments

$

At 1 January2018

Provision charge during the year 2,448,611

At31 December2018 2,449,611

18. Share capital

2018
$

2017
$

Allotted, called up and fully paid

209,894,111 Ordinary shares of f 1 each 346,031,694 346,031,694

As of 31 December 2018, all the ordinary shares carried one vote each. The amount of dividends is
determined and approved by the Board of Directors of the Company.
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19. Commission income

Net commission income comprises the following:

Commission income

Commission income from brokerage services

Total commission income

Gommission expenses

Commission expenses on securities operations

Commission expenses on guarantees and letters of credit

Total commission expenses

Brokerage commissions

Commission for marginal trades

Commissions on FX transactions

Commissions on other services

Total commission income

20'lg
$

2017
$

(16,022,309) (588,799)

Total commission income, net 632,951 7,100,558

The table below disaggregates commission income for the year 2018 by type of the services provided

2018
$

16,655,260 7,689,357

16,655,260 7,689,357

(16,022,309) (493,399)

(95,400)

11,620,409

3,439,552

588,877

1,007,422

16,655,260
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20. Gains and losses from operations with financial instruments

Gains and losses from operations with financial instruments comprise the following:

Net (losses) from trading securities

- realised gains/(losses)

- unrealised gains

2018
$

As restated
2017

$

5,749,679

(14,587,58{)

(20,701,851\

4,439,921

Total net (losses) from trading securities

Net (losses) from foreign currencies

- dealing/hedging

- translation differences

Total net (losses) from foreign currencies

Net gains from derivative instruments

- derivative financial instruments

Total net gains on derivative instruments

Total gains from financial instruments

Profit before tax

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax:

Dividends received included in other income

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets

Amortisation of intangible assets

Operating lease rentals

Net charge for other provisions

Auditors remuneration

Exchange differences

(8,837,902) (16,261,930)

869,271

(13,116,925)

(9,094,707)

317,350

(12,247,6541 (8,777,357)

69,503,685 71,080,619

69,503,685 71 ,080,619

48,418,129 46,041,332

21

2018
$

(4,813,831)

819,925

165,047

2,940,531

2,449,611

208,000

13,116,925

2017
$

(2,534,920)

1,142,094

134,800

1,799,442

181 ,000

317,350
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22. Auditors'remuneration

The Company paid the following amounts to its auditors in respect of the audit of the financial statements
and for other services provided to the Company:

Audit of the financial statements

Assurance related regulatory services (Category 2)

Fees for interim review (Category 2)

Non-audit services (Category 8)

Wages and salaries

Social security costs

Other staff costs

London office

Moscow office

2018
$

127,000

27,000

27,000

27,000

2017
$

125,000

28,000

28,000

28,000

208,000 209,000

Assurance related regulatory services relates to the CASS assurance service. Non-audit services relates
to the preparation of the financial statements.

23. Employees

Staff costs, including directors' remuneration, were as follows;

2018
$

19,123,362

3,013,420

1,727,041

2017
$

32,930,859

4,587,060

1,592,120

23,863,823 39,1 10,039

The average monthly number of employees, including the directors, during the year was as follows:

2018
No.

52

184

2017
No.

56

172

72
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24. Directors' remuneration

Directors' remuneration consists of:

Directors' emoluments

Company contributions to defined contribution pension schemes

Gorporation tax

Current tax on profits for the year

Total current tax

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of timing differences

Total deferred tax

Taxation on profit

2018
$

1,025,639

13,303

2017
$

2,847,250

15,192

1,038,941 2,862,432

During the year retirement benefits were accruing to 1 director (2017 - 2) in respect of defined
contribution pension schemes.

The highest paid director received remuneration of $512,413 (2017 - $1 ,385,946).

The value of the Company's contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme in respect of the
highest paid director amounted to $13,303 (2017 - $13,013).

25. Tax expense

2018
$

2017
$

tBtr^t"

(324,500)

6,901,061 5,791,304

5,791,304

49,531

(324,500) 49,531

6,576,561 5,840,835
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25. Tax expense (continued)

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year is lower than (2017 - higher than) the standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19.00% (2017 -19.25%). The differences are explained below:

2018
$

2017
$

Profit on ordinary activities before tax

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19.00% (2017 - 19.25o/o)

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Bank surcharge

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods

Tax exchange difference arising on movement between opening and
closing spot rates

lmpairment adjustment

Temporary difference leading to a (decrease)/increase in deferred taxation

Total tax charge for the year

Factors that may affect future tax charges

There were no factors that may affect future tax charges

26. Deferred taxation

At beginning of year

Charged to the income statement

Effect of IFRS 9 transitional adjustment

40,768,255 27,280,928

7,745,969 5,251,579

105,806

850,774

(2,131,8221

201,135

(55,608)

5,834 17,996

376,202

49,531

6,576,561 5,840,835

Deferred tax
$

768,431

324,500

96,863

1,189,794At end ofyear
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26. Deferred taxation (continued)

The deferred tax asset is made up as follows:

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Other deductable temporary differences

Provision for contingencies and commitments

27. Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss

Level 1

$
At 31 December 2018

Assets measured at fair value

Securities at fair value through profit or loss

Derivative fi nancial instruments

Securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Other financial assets

Liabilities measured at fair value

Obligation to deliver securities

Derivative fi nancial instruments

Other fi nancial liabilities

470,223,029

4,300,179 247,994,082

35,236,100

1 18,785,882

2,031,947

2018
$

2017
$

744,743

87,177

357,874

768,431

1,189,794 768,431

Level 3
$

Total

5,025,126 475,248,155

- 252,294,261

35,236,100

118,785,882

46,452,329

400,571,021

496,868,296

406,048,682

5,331,500

32,140,391

76,854,148

97,243,968

r*:3'r'

Level 2
$ $

At 31 December 2017 (restated)

Assets measured at fair value

Securities at fair value through profit and loss

Derivative fi nancial instruments

I nvestment securities available-for-sale

Other financial assets

Liabilities measured at fair value

Obligations to deliver securities

Derivative fi nancial liabilities

Other financial liabilities

44,420,382

400,571,021

9,665,023

399,713,960

5,331,500

32,140,391

86,550,652

350,908,920

487,203,273

6,334,722

76,854,148

10,693,316
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27. Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit and loss (continued)

Movements in Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value

Gains/(losses)
At I recorded in

January income
2018 statement

$$
Securities at fair value through profit and loss

Total level 3 assets

Total level3

Purchases
$

5,025,126

5,025,126

5,025,126

At 31
December

2018
$

5,025,126

5,025,126

5,025,126

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy in 2018 for
financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

The table below shows the quantitative information about significant unobservable inputs used in the fair
value measurement categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive incorne Unobservable inputs

Units in closed investment funds 5,025,126 Adjusted value ef net assets Value of underlying asset

The following table shows the impact on the fair value of Level 3 instruments of using reasonably possible
alternative assumptions:

Carrying amount

5,02s,126

Effect of reasonably possible

alternative assurnptions

$ecurities at fair value through profit and loss (6s,3271

ln order to calculate the effect of alternative assumptions for the units in level 3 instruments, the
Company adjusted the discount rate by 1.3o/o as such a change is seen by the Company as a possible
alternative change based on indicators for other items with similar parameters. The effect of reasonably
possible alternative assumptions would have entailed a decrease in the carrying amount by $65,327.

Carrying
amount $ Valuation technique
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28. Risk management

lntroduction

Risk of loss arising due to both external and internal factors and processes is inherent in the Company's
activities. lt is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject
to risk limits and other controls. This process of risk management is critical to the Company's continuing
profitability and each trading desk within the Company is accountable for the risk exposures to his or her
responsibilities. The Company is exposed to credit risk (including settlement, pre-settlement and
concentration risk), market risk (related to trading and non-trading activities), liquidity risk and interest rate
risk. The Company is also exposed to operational risk.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the economic
environment, technology and industry. They are monitored through the Company's strategic planning
process.

Risk management structure

The Company's risk management framework consists of the Board of Directors with Board Risk
Compliance Committee (BRCC), the Risk Management and Compliance Committee (RMCC), Chief Risk
Officer and the Risk Management Department. The framework focuses on the various risk the Company
is exposed to. The Chief Risk Officer is a member of the RMCC and consistently attends BRCC meetings.

The Board is responsible for monitoring the implementation of the strategy and for determining the risk
appetite by issuance of the relevant risk appetite statement. Senior management is responsible for the
development and deployment of the business strategy in line with the approved risk strategy.

The directors meet on a regular basis and discuss current financial positions versus projections for
profitability and capital management, business planning and risk management. The directors oversee the
Company's risks through a framework of policy and procedures having regard to relevant laws, standards,
principles and rules with the aim to operate a defined and transparent risk management framework. These
policies and procedures are updated as required. The Company follows the standardised approach to
market risk and the standard approach to credit risk.

Gredit risk

The Company exposes itself to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will
cau6€ a financial loss for the other party by failing to meet an obligation,

Exposure to credit risk arises as a result of the Company's lending and other transactions with
counterparties, giving rise to financial assets.

Credit risk management

The estimation of credit risk for risk management purposes involves the use of models, as the risk varies
depending on market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit
risk for a portfolio of assets entails further estimations of the likelihood of defaults occurring, the
associated loss ratios and default correlations between counterparties.
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Counterparty risk

Settlement and pre-settlement

a

a

The Company defines counterparty risk as a combination of pre-settlement and settlement risk

Pre-settlement risk is defined as a risk that one party of a contract will fail to meet the terms of a
contract and default prior to a contract's settlement date, prematurely ending the contract. The type
of risk may lead to replacement-costs and a substantial potential future exposure amount.

Settlement risk is the risk that one party will fail to deliver the terms of a contract with another party
at the time of settlement. Settlement risks can be the risk associated with default at settlement and
any timing differences in settlement between the two parties. This type of risk may lead result in a
loss equal to cost of replacement of original terms on the transactions or an entire principal amount.

As a significant proportion of the Company's transactions are conducted on the basis of "delivery versus
payment", this minimises the risk of exposure to any trading positions. This does not however eliminate
risk entirely in the combination of circumstances in which the counterparty fails and the value of stock
awaiting settlement against payment has changed adversely. To guard against this the Company sets
limits for various counterparties and monitors these limits constantly. The limits are also set for the banks
and brokers to set the maximum tolerances to mitigate the losses to insolvency.

The Company provides services of trading in exchange traded derivatives, margin trading, securities
financing, equities lending and borrowing. Exposure values to clients through the provision of these
services are determined using mark to market methods. ln all cases where such transactions place the
client or the Company at risk, the Company will hold adequate collateral and provisions for netting
arrangements. This normally takes the form of a lien over the customer's assets giving a claim on these
assets for both existing and future liabilities.
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Credit risk grading system. For measuring credit risk and grading financial instruments by the amount of
credit risk, the Company applies two approaches - an lnternal Risk-Based (lRB) rating system for Financial
lnstitutions or risk grades estimated by external international rating agencies (Standard & Poor's, Fitch,
Moody's) for other segments. lnternal and external credit ratings are mapped on an internally defined master
scale.

Banks lnvestment Gompanies Corporates,
(Financial lnstitutions) (Financial lnstitutions) Sovereigns

Gorresponding Corresponding Corresponding
ratings of ratings of ratings of
external external external

international international international
Corresponding rating agencies Corresponding rating agencies rating agencies
internal ratings (S&P) internalratings (S&P) (S&P)

Master scale
credit risk grade

Excellent

Good

Satisfactory

Special monitoring

Default

llNV-3
4-8

9-15
16-18

19

AAA to BBB

BBB to BB-

B+ to B-

B. to CCC+

CCC to D

ltNV - 3

4-8
9-15

16-18
19

AAA to BBB-

BB+ tO BB-

B+ to B-

B- to CCC

CCC- to D

A/qA to BBB-

BB+ tO BB-

B+ to B-

B- to CCC

CCC- to D

a

a

Each master scale credit risk grade is assigned a specific degree of creditworthiness:

Excellent - strong credit quality with low expected credit risk;
Good - adequate credit quality with a moderate credit risk;
Satisfactory - moderate credit quality with a satisfactory credit risk;
Special monitoring - facilities that require closer monitoring and remedial management; and
Default - facilities in which a default has occurred.

The IRB system is designed internally and ratings are estimated by the Company itself. Various credit-
risk estimating techniques are used by the Company depending on the class of the asset. There are two
commonly used types of such systems:

Model-based - ln this system, credit risk ratings are assigned by internally developed models with
the limited involvement of credit officers. Models include qualitative and quantitative information.
Expert judgement-based - ln this system, credit risk ratings are assigned subjectively by
experienced credit officers based on internally developed methodology and different qualitative and
quantitative factors. This approach is based on expert methodology and judgements rather than on
sophisticated models.

The Company applies IRB systems for measuring credit risk for the following financial assets: Amounts
due from credit institutions, financial assets at FVOCI and other financial assets, when counterparty
represents Financial lnstitution segment.

The internal rating models are regularly reviewed by the Credit Risk Department and updated if
necessary.

External ratings are assigned to counterparties by independent international rating agencies, such as
S&P, Moody's and Fitch. These ratings are publicly available. Such ratings are applied for financial assets
at FVOCI and other financial assets.
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Expected credit loss (ECL) measurement - definitions

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of future cash shortfalls (i.e., the weighted
average of credit losses, with the respective risks of default occurring in a given time period used as
weights). An ECL measurement is unbiased and should be determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes.

An ECL measurement is based on four components used by the Company:

Exposure at Default (EAD) - an estimate of exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and
expected drawdowns on committed facilities.

Probability of Default (PD) - an estimate of the likelihood of default to occur over a given time period.

Loss Given Default (LGD) - an estimate of the loss arising on default. lt is based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including from
any collateral. lt is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

Discount Rate - a tool to discount an expected loss from the present value at the reporting date. The
discount rate represents the effective interest rate (ElR) for the financial instrument or an approximation
thereof.

Lifetime period - the maximum period over which ECL should be measured. For instruments with fixed
maturity, the lifetime period is equalto the remaining contractual period.

Lifetime ECL - losses that result from all possible default events over the remaining lifetime period of the
financial instrument.

12-month ECL - the portion of lifetime ECLs that represent the ECLs resulting from default events on a
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date that are limited by the
remaining contractual life of the financial instrument.

Fonvard looking information - the information that includes the key macroeconomic variables impacting
credit risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio segment. A pervasive concept in measuring ECL
in accordance with IFRS I is that it should consider forward-looking information.

Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) - a coefficient that shows that the probability of conversion of an off-
balance sheet amounts to exposure on the balance within a defined period. lt can be calculated for a 12-
month or lifetime period. Based on the analysis performed, the Company considers that 12-month and
lifetime CCFs are the same.

Purchased originally credit impaired (POCI) financial assets - financial assets that are credit-impaired
upon initial recognition.

Low credit risk financial assets - assets that have a grade above A- defined by external rating agencies or
corresponding ratings defined by internal risk models.
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28. Risk management (continued)

Default and credit-impaired assets - an instrument is in default, meaning fully aligned with the definition of
credit-impaired, when it meets one or more of the criteria specially defined for each type of assets, among
which:

0+ DPD for Repurchase agreement deals, Margin loans, Margin calls and Stock lending deals; 5+

DPD for Trade Receivables; 14+ DPD for Cash and Cash equivalents;
default rating in accordance with external rating agency's;
default rating in accordance with internal rating model; and

other default criteria's defined by internal documents, which indicating that counterparty's obligation
unlikely being repaid.

An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of
the default criteria.

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) - the SICR assessment is performed on an individual basis by
monitoring the triggers stated below. The criteria used to identify the SICR are monitored and reviewed
periodically for appropriateness by the Company's Risk Management Department.

The Company considers a financial instrument to have experienced an SICR when one or more of the
following criteria have been met.

For transactions with financial institutions

No internal rating as at origination and/or report date; and

SICR based on relative threshold: decrease of internal rating by 3 notches, which corresponds to an

approximate increase of PD by 2.4 times.

For transactions with all other segments:

No external rating as at origination and/or report date; and

SICR based on relative threshold: decrease of external rating by 3 notches, which corresponds to
an approximate increase of PD by 3.7 times.

lf there is evidence that the SICR criteria are no longer met, the instrument will be transferred back to
Stage 1.

ECL measurement - description of estimation techniques

General principle

For non-POCI financial assets, ECLs are generally measured based on the risk of default over one of two
different time periods, depending on whether the credit risk of the borrower has increased significantly
since initial recognition. This approach can be summarized in a three-stage modelfor ECL measurement:

Stage 1 - a financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition and its credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, loss allowance is based on 12-month ECLs or on

remaining contractual life if its less that 12-months period.

Stage 2 - if a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to Stage 2

but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired, loss allowance is based on lifetime ECLs.

Stage 3 - if the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to
Stage 3 and loss allowance is based on lifetime ECLs.

a

a

a

a

a

a

a
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ECL for POCI financial assets is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3), so at the reporting date,
the Company only recognises the cumulative changes in lifetime expected credit losses.

The Company can carry out two separate approaches for ECL measurement:

Assessment on an individual basis; and
Assessment on a portfolio basis: internal or external ratings are estimated on an individual basis but
the same credit risk parameters (e.9. PD, LGD) will be applied during the process of ECL
calculations for the same credit risk ratings and homogeneous segments of the loan portfolio.

Principles of assessment on individual basis - ECL assessments on an individual basis are done by
weighting the estimates of credit losses for different possible outcomes against the probabilities of each
outcome. The Company defines at least two possible outcomes for each instruments, one of which leads
to credit loss in spite of the probability of such a scenario. lndividual assessment is mainly based on the
expert judgement of experienced officers from the Credit Risk department. Expert judgements are
regularly tested in order to decrease the difference between estimates and actual losses. The Company
performs an assessment on an individual basis for credit-impaired loans.

Principles of assessment on portfolio basis - to assess the staging of exposure and to measure a loss
allowance on a collective basis, the Company combines its exposures into segments on the basis of
shared credit risk characteristics, such as that exposures to risk within a group are homogeneous.
Examples of shared characteristics include product type, credit risk rating, geographical region of
counterparty.

The different segments reflect differences in credit risk parameters such as PD and LGD. The
appropriateness of groupings is monitored and reviewed on a periodic basis by the Risk Management
Department.

ln general, ECL is the multiplication of the following credit risk parameters: EAD, PD and LGD (definitions
of the parameters are provided above). The general approach used for ECL calculation is stated below.

a

a
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where:
LGDti - loss given default in moment ti

EADti - exposure to default in moment ti

PDti,ti+t - probability of default between ti and ti+t (can't be higher than 100%)
ti - number of months in the loan's lifetime
EIR - effective interest rate
N - remaining amount of payments.

The ECL is determined by predicting credit risk parameters (EAD, PD and LGD) for each future period
during the lifetime period for each individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are
multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has been repaid or
defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which is then
discounted back to the reporting date and summed up. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is
the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.
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Please find below the brief principles of calculating the credit risk parameters.

The EAD for amortising products and financial assets at FVOCI is based on the contractual repayments
owed by the borrower over a 12-month or lifetime basis.

Two types of PDs are used for calculating ECLs: 12-month and lifetime PD:

12-month PDs - the estimated probability of a default occurring within the next 12 months (or over
the remaining life of the financial instrument if less than 12 months). This parameter is used to
calculate 12-month ECLs. An assessment of a 12-month PD is based on the latest available historic
default data gathered by External rating agencies and adjusted for forward-looking information.
Lifetime PDs - the estimated probability of a default occurring over the remaining life of the financial
instrument. This parameter is used to calculate lifetime ECLs for Stage 2 or Stage 3 exposures. An
assessment of a Lifetime PD is based on the latest available historic default data gathered by
External rating agencies and adjusted for forward-looking information.

To calculate Lifetime PD, the Company uses the extrapolation of 12-month PDs based simplifies
approach based on conditional probability formula.

LGD represents the Company's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by
the type of counterparty, his geographical region and based on recovery statistics gathered by external
rating agencies.

For instruments secured by cash, guarantee deposits and liquid securities, the Company calculates LGD
based on specific characteristics of the collateral, such as projected collateral values, historical discounts
on sales and other factors.

ECL measurement for off-balance sheet financial instruments

The ECL measurement of off-balance sheet accounts consists of the same steps described above for the
balance sheet exposures and differs with respect to EAD calculation. EAD with respect to off-balance
sheet exposures should be calculated in the following way:

EcD=[.r0ff*CCF

where:
CCF - credit conversion factor.
ExOff - amount of credit-related commitments.
CCF for financial guarantees is defined based on statistical analysis of exposure at default or based on
expert judgement.

Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models. The calculation of ECLs incorporate
forward-looking information. The Company has performed historical analysis and identified the key
economic variables impacting credit risk and ECLs.

Expert judgement has been applied in this process. Forecasts of these economic variables (the "base
economic scenario") are provided by the IMF and provide the best estimate of the economy over the next
year. The impact of these economic variables on the PD has been determined by performing statistical
regression analysis to understand the impact changes in these variables have historically had on default
rates.

a
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ln addition to the base economic scenario, the Company's Risk Management Department also provides
other possible scenarios along with scenario weightings. The Company also determine Positive and
Negative scenario for economic variables. The scenarios are reassessed at each reporting date. The
scenario weightings are determined by an expert judgement, taking into account the range of possible
outcomes of which each chosen scenario is representative. Final PIT PD is determined taking into
account forward looking adjustment based on base, negative and positive economic scenario.

As with any economic forecast, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree
of inherent uncertainty, and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected.
The Company considers these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes.

Backtesting - the Company regularly reviews its methodology and assumptions to reduce any difference
between the estimates and the actual loss. Such backtesting is performed at least once a year.

The results of backtesting the ECL measurement methodology are communicated to the Company's
Management and further steps for tuning models and assumptions are defined after discussions between
authorised persons.

Concentration risk

Credit risk concentrations may include

A significant exposure to an individual counterparty or group of counterparties;
Credit exposures to counterparties in the same economic sector or geographic region;
Credit exposures to counterparties whose financial performance is dependent on the same activity
or commodity; and
lndirect credit exposures arising from the company's activities (e.9. exposure to a single collateral
type or to credit protection provided by a single counterparty).

a

a

a

a
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28. Risk management (continued)

The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for debt-related lines of the statement of
financial position as of 31 December 2017. Credit quality of assets as of 31 December 2018 is disclosed
in corresponding notes related to ECL presentation.

31 December 2017 As restated

Amounts due from credit institutions and other
customers

Financial institutions and investment companies

lndividuals

Trading debt securities

Non-trading debt securities

Other financial assets

Gash and cash equivalents

lnvestment
grade

$

Sub-
investment

grade
$

Total
$

218,553,438

241,325

266,090,482

35,041,801

119,841,352

228,447,133

218,553,438

241,325

119,145,784

35,041,801

119,841,352

228,447,133

146,944,698

Maximum credit risk exposure 721,270,833 146,944,698 868,215,531

All amounts subject to credit risk at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 were neither past due nor
impaired.
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Market risk

Market risk is the risk that arises from fluctuations in values of, or income from, assets or in interest or
exchange rates. The Company undertakes trading activities in various financial instruments. lt has
exposure in equity, equity derivatives, plain vanilla fixed income instruments, interest rate and exchange
rate derivatives, as well as commodity based derivatives. The Company's financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss and other types of financial instruments are susceptible to market risk arising from
uncertainties about future prices of the investments The fluctuations in asset prices and values are
limited via a number of market risk limits, such as position limits, financial results limits and sensitivities.
The Company's risk management framework is aligned with the requirements set by the group dsk
framework and principles set by the Financial Conduct Authority. The Company's market price risk is
managed through setting the market risk limits, stress-testing, hedging and diversification of the
investment portfolio.

Price risk sensitivity analysis

As restated
Book value Book value

2018 2017
$$

Trading book
instruments
(FVTPL):

Fixed income
instruments 228,142,535 301,132,283

Equity and equity
based
derivative
instruments 499,399,881 601,784,695

As restated As restated
VAR VAR as % of VAR as % of

amount book value book value
2017 2018 2017

$%%

VAR
amount

2018
$

3,747,259

7,041,447

4,811,357

10,398,670

1.64

1.41

1.60

1.73

727,542,416 902,916,978 10,799,706 15,210,027 1.48 1.68

The table below summarises the effect on profit and loss and components of equity in a number of
d ifferent selected scenarios:

2018
$

2017
$

Simultaneous shift in interest rate curve, 250bp

10% decline of main index

20% decline of main index

30% decline of main index

(22,456,927) (21,585,439)

18,224,5691 (6,542,001 )

(7,403,054) (13,313,591 )

(9,353,659) (20,31 4,770)
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations from its
financial liabilities. The Company's risk appetite is set to ensure that, at all time within the set time
horizon, it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its financial liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to its reputation. The
Company mainly works within very short tenors and maintains a buffer portfolio of cash and high quality
liquid assets to ensure that sutficient liquidity is maintained. The liquidity position is monitored on a daily
basis and management information provided daily to the senior management. The Company deems
there is sufficient liquidity for the near future and expects to meet its obligations under all reasonable
circumstances.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company's financial liabilities at 31 December
2018 and 31 December 2017 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments
which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given on the earliest possible date.
However, the Company expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest possible
date the Company could be required to pay and the table does reflect the expected cash flows indicated
by the Company's deposit retention history.

On demand
and less than

I month 1 to 3 months
$$

3 months to 1

year
$

Total
$

At31 December20lB

Amounts due to credit institutions

Derivative financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

Non-derivative financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

Other fi nancial liabilities

Total undiscounted financial

1,525,416,966 1,525,416,966

8,830,069 18,766,877 18,855,383 46,452,329

5,625,000

118,785,882

542,921,844

2,079,399,493 130,598,155 24,480,383 2,233,577,021

349,257,484 349,257,484

9,598,086 52,731,102 34,914,780 97,243,968

118,785,882

425,365,566 111,931,278

liabilities

At31 December2017

Amounts due to credit institutions

Derivative financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

Non-derivative financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

Other fi nancial liabilities

Total undiscounted financial
liabilities

277,319 5,172,486

1,033,510,179 53,008,421 40,087,266 1,126,605,866

76,854,148

597,800,461

76,854,148

603,250,266
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Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when the Company enters into transactions denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency.
The Company has currency exposures and runs positions in a variety of currencies, mainly in US Dollars,
only to support trading activities. The Company has a small risk appetite in proprietary dealing in FX,
however its main focus is to gain on arbitrage opportunities in market neutral strategies. Policy requires
that any significant FX exposure be hedged using available currency instruments including derivative
contracts,
Quantitative analysis
The position at 31 December 2018 was as follows:

RUB USD EUR GBP Other Total
$$$$$$

Financial
assets

Cash and cash
equivalents 7,128,588 247,115,645 139,869,820 13,609,195 2,383,044 410,106,292

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss 38,418,325 585,022,570 71,967,065 17,730,241 14,404,215 727,542,416

Amounts due
from credit
institutions and
other
customers 182,073,569 861 ,944,921 304,156,202 6,036,766 23,935 1,354,235,393

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income - 35,236,100 - 35,236,100

Other financial
assets 7,627,237 68,676,055 14,051,619 579,323 237 90,934,471

Totaf assets 235,247,719 1,797,995,291 530,044,706 37,955,525 16,811,431 2,618,054,672

Financial
liabilities

Amounts due to
credit
institutions and
other
customers

Financial
liabilities at fair
value through
profit or loss

Other financial
liabilities

(78,975,874) (53,055,303) (956,405) (32,081,541) (169,088) (165,238,211)

(61,965,137) (1,103,925,708) (346,380,711)(12,425,612) (719,798) (1,525,416,966)

(12,292,741) (503,028,947) (25,513,075) (1,625,497) (461,584) (542,921,844)

Total liabilities (153,233,752) (1,660,009,958) (372,850,191) (46,132,650) (1,350,470) (2,233,577,0211
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28. Risk management (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The position at 31 December 2017 was as follows

RUB USD
$$

Financial
assets

Cash and cash
equivalents

Financialassets
at fair value
through profit
or loss

Amounts due
from credit
institutions and
other
customers

lnvestment
securities
available-for-
sale

Other financial
assets

Financial
liabilities

Amounts due to
credit
institutions and
other
customers

Financial
liabilities at fair
value through
profit or loss

Other financial
liabilities

EUR
$

GBP
$

Other Total
$$

124,593,590 79,103,743 12,195,148 1,302,998 228,447,133

731,695,711 22,959,073 8,799,241 35,128,929 902,916,978

135,612,433 31,454,761 6,041,319 273,664 218,794,763

5,331,500 5,331,500

119,731,062 119,841,352

Totalassets 161,108,554 1,116,964,296 133,517,577 27,035,708 36,705,591 1,475,331,726

11,251,654

104,334,024

45,412,586

110,290

(79,605,547) (251,992,147) (16,458,211) (1,127,890) (73,689) (349,257,484)

(24,269,352) (147,901,661) (624,770) (75,779) (1,226,554) (174,098,116)

(828,132) (596,051,305) (6,369,940) (889) (603,250,266)

Total liabilities (104,703,031) (995,945,113) (17,082,981) (7,573,609) (1,301,132) (1,126,605,866)
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28. Risk management (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The table below summarises the effect on components of equity had the functional currency of the
Company weakened or strengthened against the significant currencies, with all other variables held
constant.

2018
$

2017
$

35% weakening of functional currency against RUB

35% strengthening of functional currency against RUB

10% weakening of functional currency against EUR

10% strengthening of functional currency against EUR

10% weakening of functional currency against GBP

10% strengthening of functional currency against GBP

21,262,880 14,623,654

(44,161,367) (30,372,205)

14,290,410 10,594,963

(17,466,0571 (12,937,177)

(743,375) 1,769,292

908,569 (2,162,455)

The impact of a change of 35% has been selected for RUB and 10% for other currencies as this has
been considered reasonable given the current level of exchange rates and the volatility observed both on
a historical basis and market expectations for future movement.

Operational risk

The Company defines operational risk as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal
processes, human behaviour and systems or from external events. The Company manages this risk
through policies, procedures and internal controls, including KRI's and KPI's, to ensure compliance with
laws and regulation as well as set risk tolerance. Quality and timelines of risk mitigation is being
monitored, by the Operational Risk Management unit and the Risk Management and Compliance
Committee. Further assurance is provided by the lnternal Audit Department.

Provisions of the Company's unaudited Pillar 3 disclosures, required under Part 8 Disclosure by
lnstitutions of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and
investment firms, will be available from May 2019 on the Company's website.

Regulatory capital and regulatory risk

The Company's activities are regulated in a number of jurisdictions and are therefore subject to various
regulation and legislation relating to conduct of business and the provision of financial services and
regulatory capital. This imposes extensive reporting requirements and continuing self-assessment and
appraisal. The Company has both a Compliance Department and a Risk Management Department which
are responsible for ensuring that it meets the rules of the regulators in each jurisdiction. The Company
maintains close working relationships with its regulators and seeks continually to improve its operating
efficiencies and standards. The compliance officers are in regular contact with the directors and senior
management. The regulatory environment is constantly evolving and imposes significant demands on the
resources of the Company. The Company continues to provide considerable resources to meet the
regulatory requirements.
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28. Risk management (continued)

The Company is subject to the capital adequacy supervision requirements of the FCA and has maintained
adequate levels of capital within its regulated operating subsidiaries during the year. The regulatory capital
structure of the Company largely comprises capital and reserves. Capital requirements are calculated
from market risk, counterparty risk, credit risk and operational risk assessments. The Company has an
lnternal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process ("|CAAP') as required by the FCA for establishing the
appropriate amount of regulatory capital to be held, The ICAAP gives consideration to both current and
projected financial and capital positions, and includes stress testing for adverse economic conditions. The
ICAAP is updated, at least annually, to reflect changes to the Company's structure and the business
environment. Capital adequacy is monitored on an ongoing basis by management. The adequacy of the
Company's capital is monitored using the methods, principles and ratios similar to the ones established by
the Basel Capital Accord. The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to ensure the
Company complies with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Company maintains
required credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to supports its business and to maximise
shareholders' value. The Company maintained a regulatory capital position of 278o/o (2017 - 435%)
excess over its minimum regulatory capital requirements.

Provisions of the Company's unaudited Pillar 3 disclosures, required under Part 8 Disclosure by
lnstitutions of Regulation (EU) No 575i2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and
investment firms, will be available from May 2019 on the Company's website.

29. Reserves

Reserves represent the following:

Share premium account

The share premium account included the premium on issue of equity shares, net of any issue costs.

Financial assets through other comprehensive income reserye

Financial assets through other comprehensive income reserve contains the revalued amounts of financial
assets.

Foreign exchange reserve

Gains and losses arising on retranslating operations into USD at the date of functional currency change.

Profit and loss account

Retained earnings represents cumulative profits or losses, net of dividends paid and other adjustments,

91



Sova Capital Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
forthe Year Ended 31 December2OlS

30. Commitments and contingencies

Legal

The Company has been named in a legal case in Russia by Joint-Stock Company "Non-State Pension
Fund FUTURE' ("NPF Future"), a non-state pension fund. NPF Future was a shareholder in Public Joint-
Stock Company, Bank Otkritie Financial Corporation ('BFCO"). The case taken by NPF Future names as
the Defendant, Public Joint-Stock Company National Bank TRUST ("Bank Trust"). At the time of the
transactions referred to in the case, the Company was affiliated to Bank Trust, as both entities belonged
to the same group of companies.

The Company is not a defendant in the case but is named as an "lntervener". This is on the basis that as
an affiliate of Bank Trust, the Company could have been under an obligation to notify NPF Future of the
fact that it and its affiliates held more than 75% of the shares in BFCO and to make a Mandatory Tender
Offer ("MTO"), as per the provisions of the Federal Law of the Russian Federation No.208-FZ "On Joint-
Stock Companies", for the shares held by NPF Future in BFCO. Subsequent to the alleged issue date for
the MTO, BFCO was taken into public ownership by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation, which is
also named in the case as an lntervener.

The claimants have had their claims dismissed by both the 1st instance court (the Arbitration Court of
Moscow) and the 2nd instance court (the 9th Arbitration Appellate Court), with their most recent appeal
being dismissed on 4 March 2019.

The claimants have until the 4 May 2019 to raise any potential appeal to the 3rd instance court
(Cassation Court); this Court would review the legality of the lower courts' judgements and that due legal
process had been correctly followed and applied. Accordingly, at this stage, the Court would restrict all
parties from submitting any further evidence to the Court.

Based on the above information, the Directors have assessed the specifics of the case, along with the
likely outcomes and potential for any eventual liability falling upon the company and believe this risk to be
extremely remote. The maximum amount of the claim is RUB 12.56 billion ($ 1gZ million). The maximum
claim would only arise if NPF Future were to successfully appeal to the 3rd instance court, win all further
litigation and if the Defendant were to take recourse upon the Company.

Taxation

As of 31 December 2018, a provision of $2.4 million has been made in respect of unrecoverable VAT as
the Company's estimate indicates that it is likely that such an amount of loss will occur. The Company
has engaged the professional tax advisors in order to perform the self-assessment exercise in a
complete, accurate and timely manner. The Company has informed HM Revenue & Customs about the
voluntary review of the VAT position. The Company will ensure that the outcome of the VAT self-
assessment will be shared with the tax authorities and all obligations will be settled in due course (Note
17).

Commitments under operating leases

The total future minimum lease payments to the end of each lease under non-cancelable operating
leases are as follows:

2018 2017
$$

Not later than 1 year

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

1,437,971

3,377,197

638,671

1,170,997

4,815,068 1,809,568
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31. Related party transactions

ln accordance with IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, parties are considered to be related lf one party
has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant lnfluence over the other party ln making
financial or operational decisions. ln considering each possible related party relationship, attention ls
directed to the substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form. Other related parties lnclude the
companies, which are controlled by beneficial owners and key management personnel and have a
significant lmpact on the Company.

The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances as of the reporting date, and related
income and expenses for the reporting period are stated below.

lncome and expense from related party transactions are as follows:

Entities Entities
under under

Parent common Other Parent common
company control related company Subsidiary control

2018 2018 parties 2018 2017 20',7 2017
$$$$$$

lnterest income 355,039 2,776,851 1,012,524 19,476 - 9,1 17,360

lnterest expense - (419,888) (174,115) (640,774)

Fee and
commission
income 75 - 13,489 6,843 - 1,850,211

Fee and
commission
expenses (25) (358) (141,920)

Net gains /
losses from
financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss - 1,164,399 159,849

Net
(losses)/gains
from foreign
currencies - 5,276,721 (233,216)

Net
gains/(losses)
from derivative
instruments (991) 132,071,791 353,456

Other income - - 27,700 24,000

Other expenses (57,393) (5,568) (2,842,766)

lncome and expenses from related partytransactions for the year ended 31 December 2018 related to
the LLC Concern Rossium Group and the entities under common control.

lncome and expenses from related party transactions for year ended 31 December 2017 related to the
Otkritie Group.
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31. Related party transactions (continued)

Balances due from and to related parties at the year end are as follows:

Amounts due
from related
parties

Cash and cash
equivalents

Financialassets
at fair value
through profit
or loss

Reverse
repurchase
agreements
(prior to credit
risk mitigation)

Other assets

Amounts due
to related
parties

Amounts due to
credit
institutions and
other
customers

Financial
liabilities at fair
value through
profit or loss

Other liabilities

12,022,142

12,288,296 862,093

Parent
company

31
December

2018

$

(34,024)

Entities
under

common
control 31
December

2018
$

(710,404)

(11,873,000)

Other
related

parties 31
December

2018
$

Parent
company

31
December

2017
Restated

$

Subsidiary
31

December
20'17

Restated
$

Entities
under

common
control

31
December

2017
Restated

$

3,475

5,209,925

(71 ,394,018)

(23,777)

157,297,010 21,910,029
- 19,476

(2,589,708) (221,063)

(651,399)

(3,917,902)
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31. Related party transactions (continued)

From time to time the Company enters into short-term transactions with related parties strictly when all
conditions below are met:

the transaction is at arm's length basis;
low volatility, highly liquid financial lnstruments are received as collateral;
zero tolerance is set to potential wrong way risk, hence no definite positive correlation between
obligor and underlying assets is accepted; and
the credit/sovereign issuer rating should be BBB and above.

All repurchase agreements with related parties are collateralised.

Balances due from and to related parties are related to the LLC Concern Rossium Group and the entities
under common control.

32. Post balance sheet events

The acquisition of Sova Asset Management (CY) Ltd

On 28 January 2019, the Board of Directors, subject to the fulfilment of certain conditions, approved the
acquisition of 100% of the shares and voting rights of Sova Asset Management (CY) Ltd ("SAM"), the
Cyprus alternative investment fund manager, which is regulated by the Cyprus Securities and Exchange
Commission ("CySEC").

On 6 February 2019, the conditional agreement for the sale and purchase of SAM has been executed.

As a part of the transaction the Company will also acquire the management (non-redeemable voting)
shares of the two investment funds which are currently managed by SAM, which are Sova Fund Variable
Capital lnvestment Company (CY) Ltd and Sova Disciplined Equity Fund SPC. The conditional
agreements for the sale and purchase of the management shares of the funds have been executed on 14

February 2019 whereby SAM directly (and the firm indirectly) purchased the management shares of the
funds.

The acquisition of SAM is subject to change of control approval by CySEC, therefore the sale and
purchase agreement in respect of SAM is subject to fulfilling these specific conditions. On 15 February
2019, an application for change of control was submitted to CySEC.

Obtaining a banking licence in Europe

The Company is assessing a potential acquisition of a European banking institution. Such acquisition will
be a part of the Company's strategic plan, will expand the Company's product offering and will allow the
Company to provide a wide-range of financial services.

Simplification of the ownership structure

The Company's ultimate shareholders are considering a simplification of the ownership structure of the
Company. The Directors believe that this would be a positive change which will strengthen the Company's
position from the regulatory point of view and will create a focused EU and UK business.

a

a
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33. Ultimate controlling party

The Company's ultimate parent company and controlling party with ultimate consolidation responsibilities
is LLC Concern Rossium, a company registered in Russia. Copies of the consolidated financial
statements are available at www.rossium.ru.
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